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WELCOME
Statement from the Chair and Chief Executive Officer.
It gives us great pleasure to introduce the Annual Report and Accounts for Herts Valleys Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) for the year 2020-21. This report is a statutory document, setting out
how we have performed over the past twelve months, our governance arrangements and how we
have managed our finances. It is also our chance to tell you about some of the achievements of
which we are particularly proud and explain how we have overcome our biggest challenges.
This report covers one of the most extraordinary of years in the history of the National Health
Service (NHS) and one in which we have seen the NHS at its very best. The continued
commitment and dedication of staff to deliver good care under relentless pressure is a source of
great pride for us and we know just how hard our people have been working since the pandemic
began. Thank you to everyone who works in health and social care for looking after our patients
and keeping our communities safe.
The Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) in which we work is very
experienced in pulling together in times of challenge. Throughout the COVID-19 response and
recovery, our providers in the acute, community, primary care, mental health and third sector have
worked tirelessly with us as commissioners of health services to deliver safe and effective care for
patients. This joint response to an emergency situation has accelerated the integration and
collaboration of health and social care organisations across our area.
Although the pace of some of the ICS’ transformation work has slowed this year as the system
dealt with the operational challenges of the pandemic, we have seen many positive changes that
will have long lasting benefits. From a revolution in digital access to healthcare to the extension of
virtual wards, giving more people the care and support they need without requiring a hospital stay,
we are pleased to have overseen these improvements. You can read more about thes e key
projects and the many more taking place in our area to improve patient care later in this report.
As we write this introduction, the NHS continues to deliver the biggest vaccination programme
ever seen in this country. Our GP practices have been at the forefront of vaccinating people at
greatest risk of becoming seriously ill from COVID-19 and while still keeping primary care services
running for patients. We would like to publicly express our thanks to everyone involved in
protecting those most vulnerable to COVID-19. This includes our GP practices, our CCG staff, our
providers, our partners in local authorities and our voluntary sector. This report is a testament to
everyone’s collective efforts over the past year and we hope that you will find it a useful and
interesting read.

Dr Jane Halpin

Dr Nicolas Small

Chief Executive Officer (Accountable Officer)

Chair
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PERFORMANCE REPORT
This Section contains a summary of our performance as an organisation during 2020/21 plus a
flavour of the work we do. You can read more about our work at: www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk

OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE
ABOUT US
We are the NHS organisation responsible for commissioning (planning, designing, and buying)
health services on behalf of people in west Hertfordshire. This is a population of about 600,000.
Our governing body - our board - is mainly made up of GPs and other clinicians with the remainder
comprising very senior CCG managers and lay members. We also welcome involvement from
Hertfordshire County Council, Healthwatch Hertfordshire and our patient representatives.
We are a member organisation and our 55 member GP practices are arranged into four localities:
Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans & Harpenden, and Watford & Three Rivers.
Each of these localities has a committee that is made up of local GPs. The locality committees
provide our board with advice, using their local knowledge and expertise to support us in carrying
out our role successfully.
This year we have continued to develop our 17 Primary Care Networks (PCNs) in line with the
NHS Long Term plan. PCNs serve a population of around 30,000 and build on the core of primary
care services to provide more proactive, personalised, coordinated and more integrated health
and social care for the communities they serve. We are taking this forward in partnership with
provider organisations including primary care, community health services, mental health services,
acute hospitals and social services. Although much of the development work intended for the
PCNs was paused due to the pandemic, they have proved invaluable in the roll-out of both the ‘flu
and COVID-19 vaccines. By mid-March, PCN vaccination sites in HVCCG had delivered about
three-quarters of all first doses of the COVID-19 vaccine.
During this financial year, the CCG operated from offices at The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel
Hempstead, which is owned by Dacorum Borough Council. The offices themselves have been
closed for almost all of the year, with most staff working entirely from home, and only a handful
being on site for tasks that cannot be done from elsewhere.
In 2020-21, we had a total budget of around £991 million that we spent on community, hospital,
general practice and mental health services. We jointly commission some of our services – such
as mental health, NHS 111 and the GP out-of-hours service as well as services from the voluntary
and charity sector such as Herts Help, the local hospices and community transport. Our main
commissioning partners are Hertfordshire County Council as well as East and North Hertfordshire
and West Essex Clinical Commissioning Groups. A full list of contracts with providers is available
on request.
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL
The CCG is responsible for the strategic planning, procurement, monitoring and evaluation of the
performance of a prescribed set of services that are delivered by a range of NHS, independent
and third sector health and care providers in order to meet the needs of our local population.
These services provide a range of hospital treatments, rehabilitation services, urgent and
emergency care, community health services, mental health and learning disability services. To
ensure we are meeting our populations’ needs, each year the CCG undertakes a planning process
and will continue to do so within available resources. This planning process is undertaken in the
context of wider system plans developed by the Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care
System (ICS), which is known to the public as Healthier Futures.
The ICS came into existence on 1 May 2020 in line with expectations set out in the NHS long term
plan and ahead of the national April 2021 expectation. The ICS brings together local organisations
to redesign care and improve population health under a shared leadership model. ICS partners
have agreed the following ambitions for improving the health and wellbeing of the population:
1. Adopting a population health approach to address the wider determinants of health, reduce
health inequalities, prevent illness, target resources where they will have the greatest impact and
improve quality of care through integrated, affordable services.
2. Meeting people’s health and social care needs in a joined-up way in local neighbourhoods
(where appropriate), saving time and cutting out unnecessary tests and appointments. Health and
social care services will support people to live independently for as long as possible.
3. Adopting a shared approach to treating people when they are ill, prioritising those with the
highest levels of need and reducing unwarranted variations in health and social care.
4. Placing equal value and emphasis on people’s mental and physical health.
5. Driving cultural and behavioural change among professionals, service users and families/carers
to create a healthier future.
6. Improved experience of care for patients and carers that is delivered compassionately, with
dignity and in the right place at the right time.
7. Ensuring that we have the workforce, technology, contracting, and payment mechanisms in
place to support our future plans.
The three CCGs (East and North Herts CCG, Herts Valleys CCG and West Essex CCG) have
agreed to appoint a joint accountable officer and shared management team who took up their new
roles during 2020-21. The joint accountable officer, Dr Jane Halpin, commenced in the post on
1 June 2020. The three CCGs remain as separate entities with responsibility for delivering local
services and with their own governing bodies and constitutions. With each part of the country now
ready to function as an ICS, NHS England and NHS Improvement has asked the Government and
Parliament to establish ICSs in law and remove legal barriers to integrated care for patients and
communities. Until this happens, there is no intention for the CCGs to merge into a single legal
entity.
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Within Herts and West Essex ICS there will be three geographical Integrated Care Partnerships
(ICPs), including one for west Hertfordshire. The one for our area will be known as the South and
West Herts Integrated Care Partnership. A fourth ICP around mental health is being considered.
The roles of the ICS and ICP are described below:
The ICP will be an alliance of existing organisations involved in health and social care across west
Hertfordshire. All of the commissioning organisations who plan and pay for services - CCGs, NHS
England, local authorities and the Health Security Agency (formerly known as Public Health
England) will work with service providers to make decisions about the care we need to provide for
west Hertfordshire residents. Providers such as primary care, hospitals, community and mental
health services and local authorities, will equally work together to deliver integrated patient care.
The ICS plans and commissions services to meet the health and care needs of a whole
Hertfordshire and West Essex population and joins up the whole system. It commissions ICPs to
deliver care that focuses on the care needs of specific local population groups.
ICPs coordinate local care delivery between providers, reducing barriers between organisations.
This will enable a shift in focus to a holistic approach based on population health management and
integrating services.
Some commissioning functions will be handed over to the ICP to give them direct control of how
services are provided.
Some services are already commissioned at county level as part of joint arrangements with East
and North Herts CCG and Hertfordshire County Council. Where it is best to commission services
at a county, ICS or regional level those arrangements shall continue.
In west Hertfordshire we have already started to work together in a more integrated way. Since
April 2018 the CCG has been working with system wide partners, for example the county council,
mental health trust, community healthcare trusts, voluntary sector and patient representatives in
establishing a locality delivery programme.
This is our first example of fully integrated working drawing on the principles of population health
management. There is a core focus on preventative services and assisting patients to maintain
their independence for longer.
Initially the local delivery programme has focused on adults and the frail elderly population, looking
at the harnessing the collective contributions of partner organisations to improve care for this
group of people who receive health and care from a range of professionals. This has now been
extended to cover effective resource management, frailty, care homes and medicines
management. During 2020 the focus widened to include children and young people’s services.
This programme is being delivered through Local Delivery Boards.
All west Hertfordshire localities have implemented local projects that support physical health,
mental health and social care for all adults and for unplanned care as part of this plan.
The former and current strategic objectives are set out below.
HVCCG Strategic Objectives 2020-21.
April to September 2020


Effective Engagement: We will continually improve engagements with member practices,
patients, the public, carers and our staff to contribute to and influence the work of Herts Valleys
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CCG.
Quality: We will commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs of the population,
reducing health inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill health and s tay well.
Transforming Delivery: We will work with health and social care partners to transform the
delivery of care through the implementation of “Your Care, Your Future”, the Strategic Review
in west Hertfordshire and its fit with the wider ICS strategy, “A Healthier Future”.
Affordable and Sustainable Care: We will ensure that we fulfill our statutory duty to deliver a
financially sustainable and affordable healthcare system in west Hertfordshire.

At the beginning of 2020-21, the strategic objectives and most of the strategic risks from 2019-20
were taken forward. However, as the year progressed, the board reviewed and updated its
strategic objectives and risks in the light of those of its key partners and the impact of the
pandemic.
October 2020 to March 2021
We will work with partners and local people to bring about real, sustainable change, in order to
achieve:




Reduction in health inequalities
Better health: preventing ill-health and supporting people to stay well
Joined-up, good quality, and safe services that patients can access and receive in the most
appropriate place.

The changes described above support a number of strategies which have been agreed and
implemented in west Hertfordshire, countywide and at ICS level and which outline a future
direction for health services.

West Hertfordshire has a clear clinical strategy for transforming health and social care as set out
originally in Your Care, Your Future in 2015. Our vision is that people are healthier – we want to
prevent people from becoming ill in the first place. We want people to get the care they need in the
right place (often close to where they live) at the right time. More joined up community health and
social care services will help people stay well and get the support they need. Making these
changes will also help us make sure that the health and care system is resilient and stays
affordable into the future.
This links into the “A Healthier Future” strategy developed originally by the Hertfordshire and West
Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) and now adopted by the ICS. The ICS
has been working together intensively to develop an overarching integrated health and care
strategy for Hertfordshire and West Essex, supported by a 10-year financial plan.
A countywide health and wellbeing strategy, developed jointly between health and local authority
partners, sets the wider goal to optimise the health and wellbeing of people in Hertfordshire
throughout the course of their lives and has the vision: “With all partners working together we aim
to reduce health inequalities and improve the health and wellbeing of the people in Hertfordshire”.
This is based on the four life stages of Starting Well, Developing Well, Living and Working Well
and Ageing Well. It recognises that the social determinants of health – housing and living
environment, work environment, transport, access to health and social care services,
unemployment and welfare, and education – are mostly responsible for the avoidable differences
in health status between different geographical areas and different sections of the population. Less
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well-off areas typically have poorer health and wellbeing than better off areas across a range of
health and wellbeing measures. These variations in health are something which we want to reduce
in Hertfordshire, while pursuing our overarching goal of improving outcomes for the population of
our county as a whole.

Our performance summary has highlighted some specific areas we lead on as well as our activity
within the ICS. One of our main duties is to commission efficient and effective healthcare services
that meet the needs of the population of west Hertfordshire who require NHS healthcare, and this
year there has been the need to deal with the COVID-19 pandemic. Clinical commissioning groups
are accountable for how they spend public money. Reflecting upon the impact of COVID-19 and
the associated demand for NHS services this has presented a significant challenge. Although we
had anticipated meeting all national planning standards and commitments in 2020-21, this has not
been possible due to COVID-19 for some of our commissioned services. We shall continue to
closely monitor our performance in relation to Accident & Emergency (A&E), ambulance response
times and elective care, while working with our partners. In the performance summary section of
this report you will see the steps we have highlighted to address this, or mitigating circumstances.
The outline chronology of our response to COVID-19 in terms of response and planning for
recovery is summarised below. More detail about the CCG’s work to support the pandemic
response and recovery can be found later in this report.

COVID-19 Timeline
March 2020
Incident
Management
Team and
Control Centre
established.

April 2020
Peak of first
wave in
Hertfordshire

Changes to services
 First COVID-19 patients seen in primary and secondary care.
 Testing services set up through CLCH.
Staffing changes
 NHS staff risk assessments began.
 All CCG staff switched to virtual working from home.
 Some CCG staff redeployed to NHS and care settings.
Changes to services
 Routine hospital services paused nationally
Respiratory ‘Hot Hubs’ enabled safe assessment of patients with
suspected COVID in primary care
 Voluntary and council support for patients who were ‘shielding’
 Continuing Healthcare assessment process put on hold nationally
 ‘The NHS is open’ public communications campaign began
 Urgent dental hubs established by NHS England and Improvement
 WHHT rolled out COVID-19 virtual hospital to support earlier discharge of
COVID-19 patients.
COVID testing
 Roll out of COVID testing in care homes and for hospital inpatients
 Local mobile COVID testing units established for essential workers
Supporting partners
 Infection prevention and control team supports local providers to
access appropriate Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)
 Observation training and equipment rolled out to care homes
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May 2020
Public guidance
on the wearing
of face
coverings
issued

June 2020
Easing of
lockdown
restrictions
and shielding
guidance

July 2020
Face covering
guidance
extended

August and
September
2020

COVID testing
 COVID testing expanded, initially to essential workers and their
households, then to anyone with symptoms. New drive through
testing sites added weekly.
 National NHS Test and Trace service launched.
Supporting partners
 Care home support locally enhanced service launched.
 CCG worked with providers to re-start services that had paused.
 Additional training provided to care homes on PPE.
Changes to services
 All community providers re-opened services and WHHT re-opened
referrals for routine patients
Staffing changes
 Most redeployed staff started to return to the CCG
 NHS staff take part in COVID antibody testing programme
Working with system partners
 CCG begins to develop system-wide winter plans
 Hertfordshire County Council publishes local COVID outbreak plan
 Hertfordshire ‘Play your Part’ public information campaign launched
 ‘Your COVID Recovery’ website launched
Recovery






October and
November
2020
National ‘tier’
and lockdown
system
introduced amid
rising COVID
cases
December 2020
Hertfordshire
placed under
highest tier
restrictions

CCG worked with ICS partners to develop recovery plans
Most providers returning to pre-COVID levels of activity
CCG worked with trusts to help patients be seen more quickly using
independent sector
Continuing Healthcare deferred assessments re-started
Planning to make office at The Forum COVID secure

Recovery



Acute waiting lists prioritised to ensure those in most need are treated first.
Planning for COVID vaccination programme started

Changes to services
 Number of COVID patients in Hertfordshire hospitals significantly
increased.
 Launch of NHS ‘Think 111 First’.
COVID vaccinations
 First COVID vaccinations given Hertfordshire at Lister hub.
 COVID-19 vaccinations started in 3 PCN vaccination hubs.
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January 2021
Hospitals
remain very
busy with
COVID and
non-COVID
patient

February 2021
Numbers of
COVID patients
in hospital start
to decline at our
hospitals

Changes to services
 Oximetry at home pathway was rolled out.
 Community Navigators developed service to support patients discharged
from hospital.
 Long COVID service was commissioned and is provided by CLCH.
COVID vaccinations
 COVID vaccinations at all GP-run sites and for housebound patients
 First HCT-run large scale vaccination centre opens at Robertson
House, Stevenage
COVID vaccinations
 More large scale and pharmacy vaccination centres open.
 Transport to vaccination centres put in place for eligible patients.
Partnership working
 Rapid COVID testing available for people not showing symptoms.
 Shielding programme extended to protect more people.
 Surge testing takes place to detect new variants.
 COVID information champions launched.

March 2021
Roadmap
published by
government to
ease COVID
restrictions

 More large scale vaccination centres open
 Rapid COVID testing encouraged for secondary school pupils and their
families

Nationally, mandatory performance reporting was stepped down from 1 April 2020, with the
exception of statutory reporting requirements on four hour waits for A&E services, cancer
pathways, ambulance response times and ‘referral to treatment’ ambitions, which continued in line
with the national reporting timetable.
This year’s annual report will therefore not contain a performance analysis, but this report will
instead highlight the work undertaken by the CCG alongside its system partners in the
management of the COVID-19 pandemic in both the ‘response’ and ‘restoration and reset’ phases.

Upcoming changes to Key Performance Standards
Cancer 28 Day Faster Diagnosis Standard (FDS)
A new ‘Faster Diagnosis Standard’ will ensure that all patients who are referred for the
investigation of suspected cancer find out, within 28 days, if they do or do not have a cancer
diagnosis. This should help to reduce anxiety for patients and speed up diagnosis times.
This standard was due to come into effect from April 2020, however was delayed due to COVID19. Hospitals have started to record this data in in shadow form and systems will be expected to
meet the new standard, initially to be introduced at a level of 75%, from Quarter 3 of 2021/22.
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Access Standards
Following a national review, changes to standards in mental health services, cancer care,
elective care and urgent and emergency care are being field tested at a selection of sites across
England. Revised standards were originally expected to come in during spring 2020, but the
programme of work has been delayed due to COVID-19. NHS England and Improvement is
currently seeking views on new urgent and emergency care standards which will inform final
guidance in 2021/22.

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY
Financial performance and outlook
Financial performance during 2020-21
NHS England sets some duties on CCGs with regard to the management of their finances. A
summary is set out below, and further detail provided on performance.
Requirement

What this means

Has this been met?

1. Expenditure not to

To keep the amount spent on
commissioning services to
below the amount allocated.

Yes – the CCG’s
expenditure was slightly
below the resources
available to it, at a surplus of
£79k.

To have built up surpluses in this
and previous years equal to or
more than 1% of our allocation.

Yes – the CCG’s cumulative
surplus is 1%.

To not spend more on buying
property, plant and equipment
than it has been allocated.

Yes

To keep the cash in the bank
within acceptable limits.

Yes.

To ensure we discharge our
responsibilities as a CCG
efficiently.

Yes.

exceed the revenue
resource limit in any one
year.

2. To maintain a minimum
of 1% cumulative surplus

3. Expenditure not to
exceed the capital
resource limit in any one
year.

4. To remain within the
cash limit in any one year.

5. To remain within the
running costs target.

The normal financial planning process for the year 2020/21 was suspended at the end of March 2020
when NHS England removed the routine burdens on NHS bodies freeing up resource to focus on the
operational response to COVID-19. NHS England put in place a financial regime that removed
transactions between CCGs and NHS Trusts, and provided certainty of income to providers of
frontline services. Funding was made available to CCGs, NHS and non-NHS providers and Local
Authorities to cover costs arising from managing COVID-19 patients.

Page 12

The majority of the additional funding received by the CCG covered the additional costs incurred by
the CCG and Hertfordshire County Council supporting more patients in the community following
discharge from hospital, to ensure hospital beds were available to those who needed them most. The
CCG coordinated the funding flows for this additional capacity across all of Hertfordshire, to reduce the
volume of transactions that might otherwise be incurred by Hertfordshire County Council. We also
supported our GP practices with digital solutions for virtual appointments.
Our financial plan for 2020/21 therefore largely rolled forward the costs of our services from 2019/20,
plus the additional costs to manage our response to COVID-19. The CCG received allocations for
2020/21 in line with the agreed financial plan, and our cash limit was revised to reflect any additional
costs.
Strong financial governance remained a priority for the CCG, and the CCG’s financial governance
arrangements were reviewed by our internal auditors in April 2020 to ensure that public funds were
spent wisely during a period that required rapid decisions to be made.
The CCG met the requirement to keep spend within the resources allocated, and maintained the 1%
cumulative surplus. Details of how we spent our allocation during 2020/21 are shown below:

Expenditure 2020/21

Acute hospitals

(£000)
65,577

Mental health and learning
disabilities
Community services

12,310

85,250
27,402
77,722

477,920

Continuing care/funded nursing
care
Medicines management, including
prescribing
Other primary care
Primary Care Delegated Budgets

65,828
83,800
95,727

Other programme
Running costs

NHS England holds the vast majority of capital assets on behalf of CCGs, and we did not need to bid
for a significant capital resource. Although the CCG has bought IT and other equipment, this
expenditure has not needed to be capitalised. The costs are shown as part of the running costs of the
CCG, or within other expenditure categories if this is more appropriate. We have therefore remained
within our resources, and have complied with the third requirement set out in the financial duties table
above.
We are provided with a cash limit, which is based on our planned expenditure. This cash is used to
pay for such things as all the services the CCG commissions from NHS and Non-NHS provider
organisations, Primary Care contracts and other payments, GP prescribing, the running costs of the
CCG, and so on. It draws down a proportion of that limit on a monthly basis. We drew less cash in
year than our limit, so therefore met the fourth requirement of our financial duties above.
As well as staying within the cash envelope, as a public sector organisation, we are expected to
ensure that we pay our obligations promptly. We are required to aim to pay 95% of invoices within 30
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days of receipt of a valid invoice, or within contractual payment terms. This is known as the ‘Better
Payments Practice Code’. Performance against this code is measured by value and volume of
invoices paid, and is shown in Note 4 of the Financial Statements.
The CCG took action to ensure that small businesses were not put at risk from late payments and
achieved compliance of 99% both on volume and value of invoices paid.
Our running costs for 2020/21 were £12.3m compared to the running cost allocation of £12.6m
received for the year, so complying with the final duty above. This resource is to meet all aspects
of the administration and running of the CCG as a statutory body.
We have therefore met all our financial duties for 2020/21.
In addition to the statutory duties, we need to report our position with regard to the Better Care
Fund. The Better Care Fund (BCF) in Hertfordshire is a partnership agreement with Hertfordshire
County Council and two other CCGs that cover healthcare for parts of Hertfordshire (NHS East
and North Herts CCG and NHS Cambridge and Peterborough CCG). It has been put in place to
describe the commissioning arrangements for a range of health and social care services. The fund
is hosted by Hertfordshire County Council. The BCF partnership agreement is based on the
national template developed by NHS England and Bevan Brittan. All funds are overseen by a joint
BCF Partnership Board.
Financial outlook 2021/22
The COVID-19 financial regime set in place by NHS England will continue for at least the first six
months of 2021/22. The CCG will receive an allocation based on agreed spend, including costs
incurred in our response to managing the pandemic. Details of the financial planning arrangements
for the second half of 2021/22 are expected to be published by NHS England during the summer.

Mental Health Investment Standard
The Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) requires CCGs to increase their spending on mental
health services by at least the percentage increase in the CCG’s programme allocation growth, plus a
nationally agreed additional uplift. In 2020/21, the growth in published allocation was 4.2% which,
together with the additional uplift of 1.7%, meant the CCG needed to increase its spending on Mental
Health services by 5.9%, before the addition of non-recurrent targeted additional funds. As well as
funding inflation, the additional investment was intended to be used to deliver the Mental Health Long
Term Plan (incorporating the MH Five Year Plan) and other national priorities.
Spending on Learning Disability and Dementia services is currently excluded from the MHIS
calculation, although the CCG did invest to meet the NHS Long Term Plan commitments.
Achievement of MHIS is measured by comparing expenditure in 2020/21 to that in 2019/20, after
removing the impact of any mental health specific recurrent or non-recurrent allocations received by
the CCG in either of these years. These adjustments are made to ensure that changes in spending
are based on funding from the CCG’s programme allocation. The CCG’s target spend for MHIS in
2020/21 was £83.09m compared to actual reported spend of £83.55m. The CCG therefore considers
that it has met its requirements under MHIS.
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The Statement of Compliance is subject to a separate audit assurance engagement to that of the
audit of the financial statements through the CCG’s auditor. Both the Statement of Compliance and
the Auditor report are published on the CCG website.
The CCG received an unqualified opinion to the latest Statement audited at the time of this report,
2019/20, which can be found as:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/5416/1849/3971/Compliance_Statement__HV_unsigned.pdf
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/3515/9342/8249/HV_CCG_audit_opinion__BDO_signed.pdf

Impact of EU Exit
Over the period of transition to leaving the EU the impact of EU Exit on the organisation was reported
regularly and no significant impact on departmental goals, strategic objectives or priority outcomes for
2020-21 was noted.

Response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
eConsult
Virtual consultations became the norm in all our GP practices this year. Patients use the eConsult
system on the practice website to ask a question or to complete a questionnaire for medical
advice. This enables people to get help and advice safely without needing to be seen face to face
if that’s not necessary.
Hot sites
At the start of the first wave of the pandemic Clinical Directors and their Primary Care Networks
led the rapid roll out of thirteen ‘hot’ and ‘cold’ sites in primary care. Hot sites, or hubs, were
designated practice spaces where patients with suspected COVID-19 could be seen safely. Some
were established in portable buildings, whilst others worked collaboratively at a nominated GP
practice site to provide a face-to-face appointment service to patients. These were an important
development to enable patients with respiratory symptoms to see a clinician and to ensure that
primary care staff felt supported and safe to care for patients who could be COVID positive.
Looking after patients who are ‘shielding’
The Shielded Patient List is a record of people thought to be at high risk of complications from
COVID-19 due to a current health condition or a serious illness they have had in the past. NHS
and social care organisations use the list to identify patients and offer them advice on how to
protect themselves, how to access NHS services and signpost to help with shopping, collecting
medicines and other care needs. Government guidelines strongly advised c linically extremely
vulnerable people to stay at home at all times, apart from going out to exercise or attend a medical
appointment. This guidance remained in place until August 2020, when shielding was paused due
to low levels of COVID-19 circulating in the community.
Hertfordshire County Council and its partner organisations supported shielding residents with
deliveries of food parcels and medication as well as crisis intervention for people in financial
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difficulty or needing urgent support as well as mental health support, befriending, wellbeing visits
or transport for medical appointments.
In December 2020, with transmission of COVID-19 increasing, clinically extremely vulnerable
patients were advised to shield once again. In February 2021, the shielding programme was
extended to protect more people. This was in response to evidence that some people are at higher
risk due to multiple personal and health risk factors including age, gender, ethnicity, BMI, the
medicine they are taking and whether they live in an area of deprivation. Of the extra 1.7m
residents being included on the shielding programme nationally, 14,215 were south or west
Hertfordshire residents. They joined the existing group of 19,392 residents advised to shield until
31 March 2021 and who would be prioritised for a COVID-19 vaccination.

Access to testing
The CCG supported the Hertfordshire testing and swabbing cell with the roll out of large scale
PCR COVID-19 testing for the public. From late May 2020, people with symptoms of COVID-19
could book a test online or via a phone helpline for an appointment at a number of drive-through
mobile testing sites and regional testing facilities across the county. Testing kits were also
available to be delivered to and collected from people’s homes. As the year went on, more site
locations were added and in the autumn sites where you didn’t need to arrive in a vehicle were
also opened offering a wider choice for Hertfordshire residents. Information was communicated
every week to the public through local newspapers, radio and social media and through emailed
newsletters issued by local councils and partners.
In early September 2020 the demand for COVID-19 testing peaked and there was a short period
where testing appointments via the national booking system were in short supply.
With one in three people with COVID-19 not showing any symptoms, Hertfordshire County Council
led on the development of rapid (lateral flow) testing pathways for:
 areas of significant community transmission, such as the borough of Broxbourne during
December;
 key workers and people who couldn’t work from home;
 widespread community testing to detect new variants.
Volunteers step up to support
Hertfordshire County Council through its ‘volunteering and people assistance cell’ has provided
invaluable care to thousands of Hertfordshire residents affected by COVID-19 during the year. As
well as co-ordinating the delivery of food and medication, volunteer organisations have helped
deliver rapid testing kits to identify cases of new COVID-19 variants, helped schools carry out
COVID-19 testing and have marshalled and welcomed people at vaccination centres. Around
3,800 volunteers have now signed up with Communities 1st, providing 27,000 hours of support to
vaccination sites.
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Monitoring people’s oxygen levels at home
For older and more vulnerable people with COVID-19, knowing how to spot when their breathing is
getting worse can help save lives. Patients are being monitored at home using a ‘pulse oximeter’,
a small monitor which clips to a finger, to measure their heart rate and their oxygen saturation
levels three times a day.
They record their results using either an app or a paper diary. Patients have frequent check-ins
with their GP practice to monitor changes in their oxygen saturation and are also provided with a
patient information guide about what to do outside of these appointments.
This remote monitoring is able to identify those at risk of significant deterioration earlier. Those
patients whose levels are worrying are either supported by primary care, referred for oxygen
therapy or taken to A&E. Pulse oximetry is particularly useful for identifying ‘silent hypoxia’ (low
oxygen levels when someone doesn’t have the tell-tale signs of shortness of breath).
Patients who don’t have a friend or relative to collect their monitor for them are having one
delivered by local volunteers.
COVID-19 Virtual Wards
During the first wave of the pandemic, as the number of patients seriously ill with COVID-19
increased, GPs set up new ways to monitor those patients who were unwell but didn’t need to be
admitted to hospital.
‘Virtual wards’ were established in some areas where patients were provided with oxygen
saturation monitors and were contacted daily by their practice. During evenings and weekends the
virtual ward was overseen by a GP working as part of the ‘extended access’ team. This helped
patients to be cared for at home and to allay their worries in a potentially frightening situation.
The CCG worked with system partners to implement a large scale virtual ward in response to
wave two of the pandemic when there was significant and sustained pressure on healthcare
services.
The ward was mobilised quickly and has been able to bring COVID-19 patients out of hospital and
back home earlier and support the growing numbers of patients whose COVID-19 symptoms were
serious but who didn’t need the specialist breathing equipment or respiratory care provided in
hospital.
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Long COVID virtual clinics
Long COVID virtual clinics were established in some PCN areas during the summer and autumn
offering virtual support and face to face group consultations when government restric tions allow. In
November 2020, HCT’s COVID rehabilitation clinics launched to provide physical and
psychological support for patients who are experiencing ongoing symptoms and complications
after having the virus. The service is delivered by a multi-disciplinary team which includes a
community GP, pharmacists, physiotherapists, pulmonary rehabilitation, respiratory nurses,
speech and language therapists, dietitians, occupational therapists and clinical psychologists. The
team works closely with colleagues in social care, acute hospitals, mental health and the voluntary
sector to deliver a holistic approach to each patient’s care.
Communicating with our residents
Throughout the pandemic, keeping our population informed has been a key priority. The CCG
worked with other public sector bodies in Hertfordshire to jointly plan and share information and
guidance with local people, through a range of channels, often at short notice. In a rapidly
changing situation, we worked to principles developed by the Hertfordshire Behavioural Science
Unit which uses the best available evidence to:


Help people focus on what they can do to prevent the spread of the virus;



Provide clear and specific information so people know what they are being asked to do and
when they need to do it;



Provide people with positive things they can do to stay safe and well;



Design messages and services to make it as easy as possible for people to take them up.

COVID admissions
As the pandemic took hold we saw a significant increase in COVID positive admissions to the
acute trust warranting the introduction of different regimes and processes to manage the outbreak
and its impact on the day to day running of the acute trust. During the first wave the main
pressures related to utilising different surge areas, workforce issues and issues relating to
mortuary capacity and the oxygen supply.
During the summer months of 2020 these issues calmed down and while workforce absence
remained a challenge, the bed state improved with a reduction in COVID related admissions and
recovery plans being enacted to manage the backlog of planned elective treatment.
This situation started to deteriorate in November 2020 and by the end of December 2020 we saw
COVID positive admissions rise sharply from an average of 80 cases to nearly 380 cases
(approximately 2/3rds of available hospital beds). This presented unprecedented challenges in
terms of bed occupancy, the ability to carry out routine surgery and an increased rate of staff
sickness which at its peak was above 650 with the majority being COVID related illness.
ITU services were maintained and while this posed significant pressures across all acute trusts
(re-designating surge areas for ITU patients) we did not see the level of ventilators required as in
the first wave. Patients were however, remaining longer in hospital as a result of severe illness
associated with the disease.
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While ITU levels remain high, they have reduced since the end of January 2021 and we
have also seen the COVID positive case numbers reduce to 20 in the week to 3 April 2021.



The continued challenges remain around workforce pressures although this started to
improve with the week ending 3 April 2021 data showing staff sickness absences at 168
with 103 being COVID related.

There has been continued development of the virtual wards and community respiratory services
which help manage respiratory issues outside of the acute setting. The ‘Think NHS111 First’
initiative has helped to manage some of the urgent and emergency flow through the introduction of
booked appointment slots and redirection to appropriate community services including Urgent
Treatment Centres (Watford and Hemel Hempstead).
Indications at the time of this report show that pressures are easing across all acute trusts, there
are plans in place to reclaim general beds as the COVID positive case numbers decline and
critical care is moving back to manageable levels. The joint work across all community providers,
acute trusts and the EEAST ambulance trust has seen high levels of co-operation and effective
joint working practices which continue as we now move toward a second phase of recovery.
Vaccination Programme
The NHS COVID-19 vaccination programme, the largest ever vaccination programme in the
history of the NHS commenced in December 2020 and has been one of the success stories of the
past twelve months. Plans were developed very quickly and have been responsive to changes
brought about relating to vaccine supply issues, adjustments to the priority groups for vaccination
and changes in the guidance for second doses. The collective effort and goodwill shown by GPs,
their practice staff and our colleagues in community and hospital trusts as well as the enthusiasm
of the general public should not be underestimated.
GP practices working together within Primary Care Networks (PCNs) quickly established 10 GPled vaccination centres across west Hertfordshire, which started vaccinations in December 2020 in
most areas. These vaccination centres were overseen by GPs and used other NHS staff, building
on their years of experience and knowledge of delivering the ‘flu vaccine programme, along with
support from local volunteers. As well as an initial large scale site in Stevenage, a range of other
large vaccination centres and pharmacies were also set up between December 2020 and April
2021. All centres for vaccination were set up in a ‘COVID safe’ way with space to allow social
distancing, observation areas for patients following their first vaccination and, in some cases,
drive-through facilities. They ensured that patients in the national priority groups were vaccinated
first including: all patients aged 80 years and over; those in nursing and residential care homes
and their staff. Moving to the next priority groups of: housebound patients; those aged 70 years
and over; and clinically extremely vulnerable. All care homes were visited and residents and staff
offered the vaccine by the end of January 2021 and 93% of residents had received their first
vaccine with follow up visits planned for those that were not able to have their vaccine on the first
visit. By mid-February 2021 91.5% of over 70s had received their first vaccine and all housebound
patients in priority groups were offered a vaccine.
Patients had a choice of where they attended for their vaccine, with the option of attending the
large vaccine site in Stevenage, shortly followed by additional sites opening in Watford, Hemel
Hempstead, St Albans and four community pharmacies - one in each of the four locality areas
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(Hemel Hempstead, Watford, St Albans & Borehamwood). Transport assistance has been made
available for those who need it to reach their vaccination appointment.
The vaccine programme expanded and will continue in 2021 offering patients the vaccine in order
of clinical priority groups, including those who are shielding, have learning disabilities, are in
certain age ranges or are part of Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) communities.
A national campaign was launched in February 2021 to support people that do not have a GP to
register with a practice to ensure they can access the vaccine. Locally GP practices have
supported and encouraged registration. A joint health and social care plan was developed to
ensure that people who are vulnerable, hard to reach and seldom heard could register with a GP
practice and access the vaccine; this includes those that are homeless, rough sleepers, suffer with
substance misuse, travelling community and others in this grouping. By the time this report is
published in June 2021, we will have made good progress towards vaccinating all over 18s in line
with the priority groups identified by the Joint Committee on Vaccinations and Immunisations
(JCVI) with an average of 90% achieved for Cohorts 1-9 (over 60s, clinically extremely vulnerable,
NHS and social care workers, carers and COVID 19 at risk groups). Cohort 10 (40-49s) opened up
at beginning of May and Cohort 11 (30-39) at end of May. We are making good progress on both
of these Cohorts and Cohort 12 (18-29 years) will be opening up in week commencing 7 June.

Non-urgent elective surgery
During the first wave of the pandemic there was a national mandate to pause all non-urgent
elective services to support managing COVID positive admissions. In June 2020 non-urgent
elective services opened up across all community and acute sites. The CCG worked closely with
WHHT to ensure all patients who had been referred in the first wave were on the appropriate
waiting lists and a clinical prioritisation tool was developed across the ICS to ensure patients most
in need were treated at the right time and there was consistency of approach across the ICS.
WHHT made good progress in restarting elective services and worked closely with CCG and local
independent sector providers to maximise their capacity in supporting and treating elective
patients. As wave 2 hit, non-urgent elective surgery was paused again to support managing
COVID positive and non-elective admissions. As in the first wave, urgent elective surgery
continued and virtual outpatient appointments also continued where possible. Non-urgent elective
surgery has now restarted and the CCG are working closely with WHHT and the ICS to ensure the
right patients are being seen in clinical priority order.
All patients on the waiting list have been informed that should their symptoms change, they should
contact their referrer so that their clinical prioritisation can be reviewed. Patients have also been
given information on how to support their wellbeing and mental health whilst waiting for elective
surgery. The CCG is also working with WHHT to refer vulnerable individuals who are waiting for
elective surgery to the community navigator team, to ensure they are getting to support to manage
their health and wellbeing during this time.
The CCG also continue to work closely with our community providers who are continuing to
support and provide assessment, diagnostics and treatment including outpatient procedures and
surgery to patients who need elective services.
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Service Restoration and Recovery
During the early summer months and up to autumn 2020, restoration and recovery plans were put
in place to manage a backlog of issues in a number of areas including: mental health; elective
treatments; and community based planned care. The main focus of work for the CCG’s recovery
group was to restore activity back to pre-COVID outbreak levels, maximise the learning from
different ways of working across the system and consider which aspects could be built into
sustainable models going forward. During the late autumn of 2020 it became clear that progress
toward recovery and restoration of services was slowing down as we entered another period of
lockdown as infection rates began to rise again. Over the winter period and through the height of
the second wave of infections, the focus moved from recovery to supporting system partners
manage the increasing day to day pressures of increasing hospital admissions.
However, during the period March 2020 to November 2020 we were able to establish progress in
areas such as 18 week referral to treatment (RTT), improving from 61% to 77 % and is currently at
70.5% in February 2021, 52 week waits have continued to be a challenge. Our 2 week wait
position has improved with 97% of suspected cancer being seen within 2 weeks and first treatment
is within 62 days for 83.7% of patients in March 2021.
Community providers recovered well during the summer months of 2020 and ongoing work
continues to ensure sustainable recovery continues. There are no backlogs within the community
services and they continued to operate throughout the second wave of COVID. Working closely
with system partners, a number of initiatives have been established to manage the ongoing
pressures including the continued development of respiratory hubs, now also working closely with
the virtual hospital progress which has been established over the last year. Respiratory equipment
for home use/ monitoring is now also available 24 hours a day through the hubs, hospital and out
of hours’ service.
Additional staff were recruited to help manage the ‘continuing health care’ service through
assessments of patients discharged from hospital, and our community home improvement team
worked closely with community health providers and primary care to provide essential support to
care homes.
All recovery projects have been managed on a multi-disciplinary basis with close collaboration
across all CCG teams and system partners, and have included: the ‘Think 111 First’ programme;
‘GP connect’ and virtual appointment technology; a variety of community volunteer initiatives to
support COVID related issues and hospital discharges; and the redeployment of CCG staff
supporting a variety of providers throughout the pandemic.
As we now move toward a more stable position and following a very suc cessful roll out of the
vaccination programme to date, we will be moving toward refocusing our efforts on service and
system recovery.
Cancer and waiting times for cancer treatment
As part of delivering the NHS Long Term Plan, our focus in west Hertfordshire has continued to be
diagnosis of cancer earlier and to improve timely access to treatment for patients once diagnosed.
Alongside this, work has been carried out to improve the support that cancer patients receive in
primary care.
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Our focus will continue to be for patients to access timely treatment within 62 days of receipt of an
urgent GP referral. Although cancer referrals are increasing year on year, we are fully committed
to working collaboratively with our provider trusts to deliver the cancer waiting time (CWT) targets.
The following CWTs have shown improvement, as at March 2021, with all but one now exceeding
the national target:






The two week wait from an urgent GP referral has improved to 97% (national target 93%)
The breast symptomatic CWT target has improved to 94.64% and is now above the national
target of 93% The 31 day CWT for definitive treatment from diagnosis for all cancers has
remained stable and is compliant by achieving 97.68% which is a slight improvement and
remains above the national target of 96%
The 31 day CWT for a course of radiotherapy is still meeting the national target with
performance of 100%.
The 62 day from urgent GP referral has improved slightly to 83.7% although it is still below the
national target of 85%.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had an effect on the entire cancer continuum through interrupted
pathways, delays, screening, diagnosis and treatment, as well as follow up and palliative care.
Cancer activity and treatment rates have remained overall fairly stable with innovations in COVID
friendly treatment delivery and adapted pathways. WHHT made good progress in recovering
services and improving wait times which has been outlined earlier in the Performance Overview
section. The trust worked closely with the CCG and local independent sector providers to
maximise their capacity in supporting patients. The full impact of Wave 2 is not yet known.

Performance in other services.
The information on the following pages provides some examples of the work undertaken to
improve patient care over the past twelve months. There isn’t space to include all of our projects
here but you can read more about what we do by visiting our website here:
www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk
Maternity
The focus of the Local Maternity and Neonatal system (LMNS) continued to be on:
1. Safety – Continuing delivery of key safety initiatives, reporting and learning and thereby
reducing the number of still births and neo natal deaths, with a particular focus on reducing preterm births. An LMNS Quality and Safety Governance midwife has been appointed and there is a
LMNS Safety Forum which focuses on SI reviews and shared learning chaired by her on a
monthly basis.
The new perinatal surveillance model will provide the template for the LMNS and strengthen
existing safety provision and pathways across Maternity services.
The Ockenden Review has highlighted a number of key actions to support safety that all trusts are
required to evidence compliance with, or implementation towards compliance.
2. Continuity of Carer (CoC) - to increase the number of women receiving continuity of the person
caring for them, targeting support to the most deprived areas to address health inequalities. The
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first WHHT CoC team will start on 18 January 2021 with a further team starting in March 2021.
The national ambition is to provide at least 51% of continuity of carer by March 2022. WHHT have
been provided with a pot of LMNS funding to support team resourcing.
3. Personalisation – to increase the number of women receiving personalised care plans.
4. Choice – to ensure that women have choice of provider and the setting of birth.
5. Births in a midwifery setting.
A new mum & baby app which is free for mums-to-be in Hertfordshire
and West Essex has been launched. From the start of pregnancy to
early parenthood, this app supports women and their families with:
 Choice on where to give birth;
 Access to essential information for all stages of the maternity
journey;
 Personalised plans for their care during pregnancy, birth and
beyond.
In terms of other work that is underway:







An LMNS BAME operational plan has been developed to drive equity of health outcomes for
Black, Asian and mixed race women and their babies, and trust BAME staff;
A project to offer continuous glucose monitors to pregnant women living with type 1 diabetes is
almost complete with pathways in place for immediate roll out;
An Expression of interest is underway for HWE LMNS to be an early implementer of a system
wide Pelvic Health Service;
A successful bid will see Petals bereavement services offered across the LMNS with 45 cases
per trust being funded; and
The birthrateplus® acuity tool will soon be available at each trust, an app to support and
evidence safe staffing levels.

The West Herts Maternity Voices Partnership (MVP) is working with the WHHT maternity services
and commissioners. The MVP have obtained feedback from services users via surveys and virtual
coffee mornings which is being used to review and contribute to the development of local
maternity care. Visiting and access for partners continues to provide challenges during the
pandemic.
Diagnostics
Diagnostic performance has been affected by the pressures involved with managing the COVID19 pandemic as outlined in the timeline above. Hospital capacity pressures due to managing
urgent and emergency care pathways have impacted on diagnostics waiting times. Diagnostic
activity has been accessed from independent sector providers including CT (computed
tomography), MRI (magnetic-resonance imaging), Cystoscopy, Endoscopy and non-obstetric and
ultrasound diagnostic activity.
Nationally, the operational standard is less than 1% of patients waiting six weeks or longer for a
diagnostic test. National benchmarking shows that no organisation achieved the 99% standard.
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WHHT achieved 82.5% (based on latest Model Hospital data of March 2021 performance) with the
regional median being 76.2% and national median at 75.7%.
The CCG also have a locally commissioned community non-obstetric ultrasound service in place
for GP referrals. This service has continued to deliver scans throughout the pandemic in
community settings with COVID secure measures in place.
Mental Health

Working in partnership with trusts and other stakeholders and in coproduction with service users
and carers, the focus in adult mental health has been on delivering the NHS Long Term Plan for
Mental Health which includes: an increase to a core-24 service in acute hospitals; an expanding
specialist perinatal service; expansion in the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
programme; transformation of community mental health services; the development of wave 2
individual placement support (IPS) for employment; and a focus on both eating disorder and
personality disorder pathways.
Whilst COVID-19 has brought challenges to the system, much work has been undertaken
throughout the pandemic with communications via non face to face methods (phone and on
line). A number of new services have been introduced to respond to the pandemic including 111
Option 2 for mental health to allow easy access to mental health services. Working closely with
both NHS and voluntary sector partners has ensured the mobilisation of provision throughout the
pandemic, including: enabling of technologies; the online offer; and ensuring that services have
been accessible at all times.

Dementia
The impact of COVID on people with dementia has been significant with many community support
services closed during much of the year to reduce the risk of transmission and visiting to care
homes also greatly impacted. Dementia diagnosis services were suspended during the first wave
of the pandemic to allow a focus on front line support but the waiting list was then addres sed and
bought back down to pre-COVID levels. The number of people with dementia recorded on GP
registers has reduced during the year from 4,881 in March 2020 (67.6% of the expected
prevalence) to 4,189 patients (65+) in March 2021. This is a diagnosis rate of 58.9% (of the March
2021 estimated prevalence) against the national target of 66.7%. The Hertfordshire wide
dementia strategy covered a 5 year period up to 2020 and it had been planned to hold a period of
public consultation on a new strategy during the year. This was delayed due to COVID and a one
year action plan put in place instead responding to the urgent priorities identified during COVID
such as support to carers of people with dementia, whose formal and informal support structures
had been affected by the pandemic.

Continuing Healthcare (CHC)
During the period between 16 March 2020 and 31 August 2020, the CHC framework was formally
stood down as part of the COVID-19 pandemic response. Central government funding was
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provided instead (called ‘scheme 1’), to put in place packages or placements for people out of
hospital and facilitate a timely discharge out of hospital.
During this period a large number of deferred CHC assessments accrued. NHSE/I set a target to
clear these deferred and scheme 1 CHC assessments by the end of March 2021, with the offer of
additional central government funding to support the resource needed from CHC and the local
authority.
A CHC reset group that has met weekly across system partners was put in place to monitor and
co-ordinate the work.
HVCCG had 366 deferred assessments to complete during this period. The team have worked
tirelessly and are on track for the completion of this piece of work. Progress on this activity has
been monitored through the submission of a two-weekly sitrep to NHSE/I.
The CHC framework was stood up again from 1 September 2020. Although not formally reportable
at this stage the team have worked extremely hard to maintain the expected quality and
performance that would be reported under the Quality Premium.

Children and Young People’s Continuing Care (CYPCC)
CYPCC has continued as business as usual throughout the pandemic. The CYPCC team have
also been approached to support the non-commissioned activity pathway for children and young
people.

End of life care
End of Life Services provided by CLCH, WHHT and local hospices have continued to operate
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic supporting patients to die in their preferred place of care and
continuing to provide support to friends and families through bereavement services.
The Rapid Personalised Care Service moved from a successful pilot to a commissioned service in
July 2020. The service provides care for people at the end of their life and is provided by local
hospices.
End of Life Care Services have also provided end of life training and this is available to all clinical
staff that support patients at their end of life.
The service has now fully integrated with the CCG Adult Community Service (ACS) provider and
the Palliative Care Referral Centre has moved to single point of access lead by the ACS provider
from 1 January 2021. The CCG also commissioned the palliative care advice line which provides
24/7, 365 days a year, medical advice for patients, carers, family members and health care
professionals and sign posts the caller to other services depending on the call.

Safeguarding our Vulnerable Residents
We work alongside our partner agencies to identify and prevent all forms of abuse and neglect so
that everyone living in Hertfordshire is able to make a full and positive contribution to society.
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Safeguarding adults
We work alongside our partner agencies to identify and prevent all forms of abuse and neglect so
that everyone living in Hertfordshire is able to make a full and positive contribution to society.
Our ICS Director of Nursing and Quality and Associate Director of Adult Safeguarding are
members of the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board (HSAB), the Domestic Abuse Executive
Board and the Multi-agency Prevent Board. This means we can make sure that the CCG works
closely with partners to constantly improve the outcomes for adults at risk of abuse or neglect
across the county.
The pandemic has increased the risk of abuse and neglect experienced by the most vulnerable
people in our community due to changes in services, reducing family or professional visits for fear
of contracting the virus, financial scamming, online grooming and increasing pressures within
households. A global surge in domestic abuse has been reported during the pandemic, in the UK
calls to the national domestic abuse helpline were 49% higher than average in the last week of the
first lockdown.

The CCG Safeguarding Adult Team has played a valuable role in the Hertfordshire response to
COVID including the work below:
At the start of the pandemic concerns were raised across the Hertfordshire multi-agency
partnership that advance planning and DNACPR (do not attempt cardiopulmonary resuscitation)
directives were being completed outside the legal framework of the MCA. The National joint
statement on Advance Planning from the Royal Colleges was shared by the Safeguarding Adult
Team with primary care, relevant CCG staff and care providers and the impact of this on practice
was monitored by the Hertfordshire multi-agency partnership.
The Named Nurse for Adult Safeguarding shared relevant information regarding the MCA and
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) with CCG staff, hospital and community service
providers, including guidance for when an individual without mental capacity is unable to comply
with self-isolation or social distancing and easy-read resources.
Assurance was secured from community services that consent for swabbing was being gained in
adherence with the MCA. The Named Nurse for Adult Safeguarding produced and shared
briefings regarding mental capacity and consent for flu and COVID vaccinations.

The Safeguarding Adult Team continued to actively engage in regional and national safeguarding
networks and the National Mental Capacity Forum to share best practice and raise awareness of
current safeguarding adult themes.

The Named Nurse for Adult Safeguarding produced a Safeguarding in COVID brief highlighting
key concerns which was shared across the CCG and primary care and created a joint presentation
with the Safeguarding Children Team which was delivered at multiple Primary Care Practice
Forums via Teams.
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The Safeguarding Adult Team worked with partnership agencies to support Care Homes and Care
Providers whilst monitoring quality.

The Named Nurse for Adult Safeguarding actively engaged in the Domestic Abuse emergency
response, ensuring the CCG was represented in the strategic, provider response, communication
and data work streams. Key achievements included facilitating a transport provider to transport
victims who have, or have been exposed to, COVID into refuge and facilitating the display of
domestic abuse posters at swabbing sites.
The Associate Director of Adult Safeguarding has been appointed as Chair of the Quality and
Innovation sub group of the Domestic Abuse Partnership Board. One of the objectives of this sub
group is to identify and incorporate learning about domestic abuse that occurred during the Covid
pandemic.
The Named Nurse for Adult Safeguarding worked with private providers to gain assurance
regarding the safeguarding processes in place for asylum seekers being accommodated in
Hertfordshire.
The Safeguarding Adult Team has provided support and guidance for CCG staff managing
complex cases through individual case discussions and group supervision.
The Safeguarding Adult Team has provided support and guidance for colleagues in provider
organisations and primary care managing complex cases through individual case discussions and
interventions.
The Safeguarding Adult Team ensured that information from the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult
Board (HSAB) was communicated appropriately to CCG colleagues and primary care and kept the
Board briefed on CCG actions. This was demonstrated at the Scrutiny session with the County
Council in December.
As Chair of the Safeguarding Adult Review sub group the Associate Director of Adult
Safeguarding has worked with the HSAB Business Unit to develop a proposal and commission a
review of cases that relate to domestic abuse, mental health issues and alcohol abuse.
Key achievements:





Building on existing multi-agency partnership working facilitated an effective safeguarding
adult response across Hertfordshire.
A successful transfer of CCG safeguarding training, supervision and multi-agency
partnership meetings to a virtual platform.
Two domestic abuse conferences and four Level 3 safeguarding training afternoons for
primary care successfully delivered on a virtual platform with excellent feedback
Effective sharing of information and best practice guidance through COVID communication
processes within the CCG and across primary care.
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Safeguarding children
Designated team
The Designated Professional’s role is to work across the local health system to support other
professionals in their agencies on all aspects of safeguarding and child protection. Designated
Professionals are clinical experts and strategic leaders for safeguarding and as such are a vital
source of advice and support to health commissioners in CCGs, the local authority and NHS
England, other health professionals in provider organisations, quality surveillance groups (QSG),
regulators, the LSCB/SAB and the Health and Wellbeing Board.
The Designated Team for Safeguarding includes Children Looked after and Care Leavers, provide
assurance to the CCG board on the strength of safeguarding children practice across Health. They
work in partnership with Local authority and Police in accordance with Working Together to
Safeguard Children, 2018.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
942454/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_inter_agency_guidance.pdf.

Primary Care
The Primary Care Safeguarding Children Named GPs, Named Nurse and Nurse Specialist
continue to support and offer expert safeguarding advice to GP Practices throughout the COVID19 pandemic. A bespoke Practice Support Tool underpins this activity in addition to an updated
safeguarding template incorporated within the CCG Quality Visits supporting documentation. An
audit is currently being undertaken in partnership with Children’s Services to review the quality of
information sharing by Primary Care colleagues which will provide valuable feedback to the CCG.
It is envisaged that the findings from this audit will support the development of future processes to
ensure that this vital aspect of safeguarding within Primary Care is consistently standardised and
of high quality.

Secondary Care
The Designated Team have continued business as usual to gain assurance via quarterly
dashboards and the progression of all statutory annual Section 11 assurance visits in 2020, along
with supporting Public Health Commissioners to achieve the same. Action plans continue to be
monitored via provider organisation quarterly safeguarding meetings.
The Designated Team continue to work with East of England Regional Team to support work
across the region in relation to the impact of COVID on children and young people; exploitation of
children and adults; provide required data and information; support training discussion and to
influence national decisions.
The Designated team have continued to work with the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children
partnership to manage, review and escalate issues as they emerge and to support the monitoring
of our most vulnerable children; the team have also adapted and delivered training related to
learning lessons from five children who were the subjects of Serious Case Reviews between 2017
and 2019.
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There is a perceived, yet unknown, risk due to the invisibility of children over the last year and, as
yet, the impact on children who are not known to be vulnerable is not fully understood. The team
will be working closely with provider organisations and the partnership to consider approaches to
ensuring invisible children are identified and not overlooked.
Team members were redeployed to support providers during lockdown 1 and support HUC in the
current lockdown.

Looked after children
In response to the COVID 19 pandemic the Designated Looked After Children’s team have
implemented closer working practice between the LAC Health team and Social care in order to
identify and share information around specific vulnerable children and young people.
The team contribute to Partnership and Safeguarding Adolescent Group (SAG) meetings where
LAC are regularly discussed. SAG agenda items feed into the newly created MACE 2 starting in
March 2021. It is expected that through this meeting the partnership will be able to identify higher
activity areas and risk by sharing concerns from all services / providers in a central meeting and
develop new strategies for reducing risks by a more targeted approach to child sexual/criminal
exploitation.
The Designated LAC team are members of a new regional group on CSE/ CCE with a remit to
understand and influence the regional health response
An audit is currently being undertaken in partnership with CAMHS to review outcomes for LAC
referrals made into the service and information sharing to health colleagues. The findings from
this audit will be used to identify and build upon good practice so that all health partners are
consistently informed of relevant information with regards to Looked after children and young
people and referral progress to support their identified health needs.
The Joint Strategic Needs assessment (JSNA) for LAC, under direction of Public Health has
commenced with input from the Designated team. The JSNA will provide data and information to
support the CCG strategy for Looked after children in Hertfordshire for 2021 – 2023.

Child Deaths
The Designated Team continue to support child death arrangements within Hertfordshire with the
addition of a Nurse Specialist to the CCG team to facilitate this role. A workshop held during the
year has led to increased participation using a virtual platform

Learning Disabilities/Integrated Health and Care Commissioning Team
(IHCCT)
The STOMP (STopping Over Medication of People with learning disabilities) and STAMP
(STopping Autism over Medication Programme) projects to address over medication of people
with a learning disability, autism or both with psychotropic medications were paused during
wave 1 of the COVID pandemic.
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The LeDeR programme (Learning Disability Mortality Review) continued throughout the year and
the national target of 100% completion of in scope reviews was met in December 2020. Both the
Hertfordshire LeDeR Steering Group and Improving Health Outcome Group (IHOG) continued to
meet virtually for assurance that work to reduce health inequalities continues to be a priority and
learning from reviews is applied.
Delivery of Annual Health Checks for people with learning disabilities has remained a priority
during the pandemic. This is in order to reduce the risk of increased unnecessary deaths amongst
people with a learning disability. A phased pathway to completing Annual Health Checks was
developed by the Learning Disability Nursing Service which enabled checks to continue with
reduced time in face to face contact.
Care and Treatment Reviews continued in a virtual, adapted format for both community and
inpatient formats.
6-8 week monitoring visits of specialist LD hospitals continued in both adapted virtual and onsite
formats, depending on risk assessment application and decision prior to the visit. Admissions and
discharges from specialist hospitals continued with risk assessment process applied to inform.
Host commissioner responsibilities continued, with active role taken around ensuring COVID
notifications and oversight of community and inpatient specialist LD hospitals services.
The STOMP/STAMP programme steering group reconvened in November 2020 and individual
casework had resumed by this point. The national target for Annual Health Check delivery has
been reduced to 67% (from 75%) to account for the impact of the pandemic. NHS Digital data
showed that in Q1 only 140 Annual Health Checks were completed (of total GP LD register 2592).
Arrangements are in place around support of vulnerable in-patients with LD, ensuring regular
contact in place with families and social workers, with oversight of these arrangements by IHCCT
LD commissioners. Working with health, social care and regional NHSE/I colleagues to promote
and support COVID vaccination process of people with LD. This includes lobbying for an extension
of the scheme to include all people with LD in categories 4 and 6.

Non-emergency Patient Transport Service
We work as part of a consortium of CCGs across Hertfordshire, Luton and Bedfordshire to provide
the non-emergency patient transport service (NEPTS). The service provides transport to and from
hospitals and treatment centres for patients with planned appointments, including treatment such
as dialysis, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, as well as supporting discharges. Looking ahead, we
will continue to work collaboratively with EEAST and our stakeholders in developing and improving
the service.

Ambulance services
EEAST has experienced an increase in demand arising with the second wave of COVID, with a
corresponding pressure to the overall system and hospital capacity. EEAST has increased call
handling capacity as well as Call Handler Leadership training across the Ambulance Operating
Centre (AOC). Weekly calls have taken place with relevant staff to support and maximise
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deployment of resource, as well as reviewing patient safety procedures, particularly in light of
COVID and infection prevention and control (IPC) requirements.
EEAST has increased senior clinical leadership with all three AOCs to support staff during times of
'surge' and to provide 24/7 cover as well as mitigation against possible increased in sickness level.
EEAST is also ensuring there is the appropriate qualified skill-mix in each vehicle, coupled with
enhanced supervision, to support decision making and less experienced staff. The Trust is also
engaged with the consortium of commissioners to review alternative care pathways, in order to:
minimise Emergency Department attendances; improve system performance; and to maximise
'see & treat' outcomes.

Planned Care
WHHT stopped accepting routine referrals during the first wave as at the end of March 2020 and
only accepted urgent or suspected cancer cases. WHHT restarted accepting routine referrals from
15 June 2020 and began their restart and recovery plans by speciality.
In line with initial national prioritisation guidelines for the first wave, some community services
were paused, some transferred to virtual working where possible, some continued with some reprioritisation and redeployment of staff between providers for mutual support in priority areas. The
majority of community services continued to provide a service, with patients managed virtually
where possible, with face to face services resumed as part of phase 2 in May/June following a
quality assurance process to ensure all appropriate IPC measures were used to ensure face to
face services were delivered in a COVID secure manner.
In September 2020, WHHT had significant backlogs and waiting lists across a number of
specialities. This will now have been exacerbated by the second lockdown and WHHT hospital
pressures resulting in need to cancel all (adult and paediatric) non urgent outpatient activity in
January 2021 until capacity can be reviewed.
Some Community providers had no significant backlog and other providers who have not been
able to see patients virtually are working through referrals with increased waiting times.
WHHT took steps to manage capacity issues impacted by COVID by:




Cancelling all (adult and paediatric) non urgent outpatient activity.
Where clinical appointments are necessary, conducting these by telephone or video rather
than face to face wherever appropriate.
Where is it clinically essential to see patients in person, these appointments take place away
from the Watford General Hospital site.

Where patients have had their appointments cancelled, the Trust will hold on to their referral and
will rebook them into an appointment (which may be by video or phone) as soon as they can. Only
clinically inappropriate referrals will be rejected. All other referrals will be clinically prioritised and
patients will either be seen (those on urgent or two week wait pathways) or held on a waiting list
(routines).
Community providers continued to deliver services. For patients who need onward referral to
hospital, waiting times were impacted by Trust capacity issues.
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Risk to patients has been mitigated by clinical prioritisation and clinical harm review processes.
Very regular communication continued to occur between HVCCG and all providers to ensure all
quality issues which were identified were discussed and actions worked through.

Improving Quality.
Quality continues to be a leading priority for us. One of our strategic objectives for 2020-2022 is to
commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs of the population, reducing health
inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill health and stay well.
We have discharged our duty to improve quality under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended 2012) by ensuring that we commission safe and high quality patient care from
appropriately accredited and regulated and approved providers.
The following section explains how we have discharged our duty under Section 14R of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) to improve the quality of services. During 202021 we have looked at new ways of scrutinising quality in regards to our CCG processes and
commissioned services which include more patient involvement. The following analysis reflects
our ratings available for the CCG at the following sources on the NHS website:
Data on specialty treatments
Data on services
Data on health & wellbeing
2020-21 has been a challenging year both nationally and locally for health and care services.
Furthermore, the success over many years in increasing life expectancy means that we have
increasing demand for primary, community, social and hospital care.

Work of the Quality Improvement team
During the COVID-19 pandemic response the Quality Improvement (QI) team have continued to
remotely support all adult care homes in west Hertfordshire with prevention of avoidable hospital
admissions, as well as where pandemic outbreak management demanded a response.
The QI team have collaborated and worked closely with all system partners to s upport a joined up
pandemic response as outlined in the COVID timeline. The QI team have been included in and
have attended all care home related calls or cells as part of the whole system’s pandemic
response. This has allowed additional focused support to be provided at the point of identification
to care homes that require it.
As a result of COVID the QI team have seen a huge increase in numbers of care
homes/supported living homes and flexicare facilities with COVID outbreaks that have required
support for training and advice.
The Care Home Improvement and Quality Team contacted all providers including Sheltered Living
and supported Living providers to offer training and support. This included signposting to other
services which may assist them during this period. Home care providers were contacted where
notifications of staff outbreaks came to the cell for discussion. This ensured that services to
vulnerable adults in their own home did not stop due to lack of staff. The main link for home care
sits with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC).
Page 32

The QI team have worked closely with all adult care homes in west Hertfordshire to ensure that
care home staff teams are supported and receive appropriate training to upskill them in being able
to apply appropriate infection prevention and control practices, ensuring residents and staff are
protected and outbreaks are minimised as much as possible. This training continues on a rolling
basis and additional support is offered where an outbreak has been identified or where the care
home requests.
Each adult care home has a dedicated Care Home Improvement Team (CHIT) nurse who contacts
them on a minimum weekly basis or more if required, for example during an outbreak, where new
staff require training, or where an increase in avoidable hospital admissions is noted.
Along with pandemic response support, the QI team have continued to support adult care homes
in prevention of avoidable hospital admissions and continued to review avoidable hospital
admissions with care homes, identifying where training, support or signposting is required to
prevent such admissions. Key training, such as: recognising the deteriorating resident;
understanding and taking basic observations (each home was provided with a thermometer, blood
pressure machine and pulse oximeter to be able to undertake); and any specific training relevant
to a condition that a particular care home resident may have (for example Parkinson’s, diabetes),
has been delivered on a rolling basis and again where an avoidable hospital admission has been
identified. The CHIT nurses work closely with Emergency Care Practitioners (ECP) to promote use
of their service within the care homes to ensure they are contacted in the first instance for non-lifethreatening calls.
The QI team have supported local authority partners to undertake remote monitoring visits and
attend quality assurance meetings to ensure where any learning is identified the team are in a
position to offer immediate support signposting and training.
The Assistant Director of Resilience and Quality Improvement has chaired the CCG outbreak cell
five days a week with prevention cells now four times a week. The prevention cell looks in more
detail at Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) measures in place in each facility and offers advice
and challenge where good practice or national guidance is not being followed. The quality of all
services remains high on the CCG and HCC agenda and the Serious Improvement and Quality
Improvement process, which includes safeguarding, has never been stood down to ensure
services are fit for purpose and vulnerable adults are protected.

Infection Control
The infection prevention and control team has been closely focused on incident management of
the coronavirus pandemic since February 2020 and then into this year ending March 2021.






Developed a range of guidance, observational tools and training material to support a range of
health and social care providers to interpret national guidance relating to infection prevention
and control.
Undertook quality visits to a range of providers to provide support, and to seek assurance that
they are able to see patients safely. This includes primary care, care homes and a number of
community providers.
Delivered training sessions and webinars to providers on infection prevention and control.
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Provided management and support during COVID-19 outbreaks, including those in primary
care and care homes as well as those occurring within the main providers.
Advised mass vaccination sites and undertook quality assurance visits.
Responded to a significant number of ad-hoc infection control queries relating to both COVID19 and non-COVID-19 related issues.

Performance in primary care
Commissioning of primary medical services
We continue to effectively discharge the statutory functions for the commissioning of primary
medical services on behalf of NHS England and Improvement and provide assurances through
robust governance arrangements and reporting.
We continue to work with our member practices to maintain and improve performance and the
quality of general practice.
In 2020-21 our main focus has been supporting the NHS Long Term Plan requirement by
continuing to support the development of our Primary Care Networks and their implementation of
the Primary Care Network DES. (See Primary Care Network section below).
We continue to also support general practice to ensure sustainability and resilience through
provision of training and additional resources to support practice mergers and workforce issues.

Improved access to general practice
We continue to offer in excess of 300 hours of additional evening and weekend appointments
each week. Between April 2020 and end of March 2021, 58,872 patients have attended these
additional appointments. It should be noted that these recorded numbers are lower than usual
due to the impact of COVID and for the months of April and May 2020 the extended access
providers were encouraged to use their clinical time to support the wider system, primarily NHS
111.
In the last year the skill mix used to deliver extended access (evening and weekend)
appointments has comprised of GPs, nurses, clinical pharmacists and phlebotomists and we
continue to encourage our providers to use a blended workforce to effectively see and treat
patients.
We have also undertaken a Quality Assurance process with all four GP Federations who provide
the extended access services for west Hertfordshire to provide assurance that robust governance
policies and processes are in place to deliver a high quality service to patients.

Quality in General Practice
The CCG continues to support general practice through our resilience programme to assess
applications for discretionary funding. This funding provides short term support to practices to
ensure their longer term sustainability.
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The CCG has increased the nursing and quality input into primary care through a dedicated
resource to support the practice visit programme: implementation of this programme was
delayed in 2020-21 due to the COVID pandemic.

Direct booking into GP Connect
In 2020-21 the CCG was able to successfully roll out GP Connect: software which enables local
and national 111 services to book appointments directly into local GP surgeries.
From April 2020 to March 2021, a total of 14,311 appointments have been booked from 111
services through GP Connect, saving patient and GP surgery time.

Local Commissioning of Primary Care Services
In 2020-21, we continued to commission local services above the core national GP Contract
through the GP Enhanced Commissioning Framework (GPECF). Our services were affected by
COVID and we undertook a review of the GPECF to ensure that the most essential services
continued either virtually, or face-to-face where clinically necessary.
GP practices were encouraged to use clinical prioritisation to ensure that those at the highest
risk of poor health outcomes were not adversely affected and continued to receive essential
clinical services.

Primary Care Networks
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) have continued to evolve throughout 2020-21, despite the
impact of COVID-19 and a number of COVID-19 outbreaks in Primary Care.
We now have 17 PCNs across our four localities, which is an increase of one from the previous
year due to some configuration changes with the PCN membership. One PCN covers practices
across three localities: Dacorum, Hertsmere and St Albans, with a patient population of just over
24,000.
The CCG regularly engages with the 17 PCN Clinical Directors to ensure their inclusion in the
development of clinical pathway transformation and integration and the development of both the
Integrated Care System (ICS) and the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).
During the last 12 months, the Clinical Directors have continued to provide leadership for their
PCN and network practices and have developed good networking amongst their peers to share
good practice.
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, PCNs have played a pivotal role in ensuring that COVID-19
vaccinations are delivered to the four priority groups, including vaccinating their Care Home
residents and staff.
The vaccination programmes in Dacorum, St Albans & Harpenden and Hertsmere localities are
delivered collaboratively from non-NHS sites at a locality level, whilst the PCNs in Watford & Three
Rivers are delivering the vaccinations to their own PCN populations.
Under the national PCN Directed Enhanced Services (PCN DES), PCNs have recruited additional
Allied Health Professionals to expand their current workforce. In 2020-21 PCNs have employed:
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25 Clinical Pharmacists, 10.5 Social Prescribers; 9 First Contact Physiotherapists; 4 Physician
Associates; 1 Dietician; and 21 Care Coordinators all whole time equivalent posts. There will be
further opportunities to expand their care teams with Mental Health Practitioners and Paramedics
in the next financial year.
All PCNs have also commenced the Enhanced Health in Care Home specification, another
component of the PCN DES. The majority of Care Homes has been aligned to member practices
within their PCNs as well as appointing a lead clinician. PCNs have established Multi-Disciplinary
Team meetings and are providing a weekly ‘home round’ for the PCN’s patients who are living in
the PCN’s aligned Care Homes.

Locality Provider Groups (LPGs)
The Locality Provider Groups (LPGs) had been meeting regularly during 2019-20 to discuss
community pathways, identify gaps in services or duplication in processes. Patient
representatives and the voluntary sector are also included in the LPGs and are able to contribute
to the discussions or regularly submit questions to be discussed and addressed by members of
the LPGs. LPG meetings were paused due to the COVID pandemic in February 2020 and
currently being reinstated in all localities from March 2021 to review current position and agree
on next steps.

Supporting Practices Winter Plans (SPWP)
The CCG continues to support practices to deliver additional appointments during core hours
(8am to 6.30pm, Monday to Friday) to cope with the additional demand. The scheme usually
runs over the winter months from October to March, however it was extended to run the whole
year during 2020-21 to support the COVID pandemic and delivery of the vaccination
programmes for ‘flu and COVID-19.

Improving primary care premises
2020-21 was another good year for premises. All Estate Transformation Technology Fund (ETTF)
projects are funded by NHSE secured by full business case approval by both HVCCG and NHS
England. Following the merger of the Berkhamstead Practice Group with Rothschild the premises
project in the vacant wing at Gossoms End completed in January 2021. It’s a busy time for
Rothschild as their ETTF project at Markyate is also on site and scheduled to complete later this
year. After many years of planning an expansion of Parkwood Surgery Premises in Hemel
Hempstead, works finally began on site to build an extension, which will double the size of the
premises and that project will complete during the first quarter of 2022. It is also good to see the
new purpose built premises for Village and Latimore Surgery’s in London Colney advancing well;
this project should complete in the early summer.
Aside from ETTF, a number of practices such as Schopwick Surgery at Elstree Village, Consulting
Rooms at South Oxhey, Garston Medical Centre and New Road Surgery at Croxley Green gained
CCG approval on Project Initiation Documents which supported relocation to new or improved
surgery premises and each are now working up further detail incorporated into business cases to
obtain approval from the CCG and NHS England.
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Improvement grants applications were also supported including one at Bridgewater House in
Watford which converted a redundant second reception area and back office space into a selfcontained clinical area with three consulting rooms. On completion, this suite was immediately
used by the PCN as its COVID vaccination site and going forward lends itself for practice and
wider PCN use. Another grant at Watford Health Centre will be used to fit out a redundant area on
the first floor as part of the overall plan when this practice took into its list the former Meadowell
contract.
Our relationship with local authorities has strengthened and we are beginning to see developers’
contributions being secured, and triggers reached, enabling funds to be drawn against specific
primary care projects across all localities. We have also worked with the local authorities as they
develop their local plans to ensure that health forms part of local planning and infrastructure
planning.
In recognition of the additional roles to support GMS and PCN strategy planning, at the beginning
of February 2021, the premises team completed and shared with each PCN Clinical Director a
detailed locality workbook of primary care data, housing forecasts and capital projects as a
support tool for each PCN. This can be used as a baseline for formulating estate strategies that
support their emerging clinical strategies.

Medicines Optimisation
Virtual working
Since April 2020 all Medicines Optimisation staff have been working from home, following
government advice as outlined in the COVID timeline overview.
This has required us to run all our meetings virtually including our 5 Area Prescribing committees,
16 Locality Prescribing meetings, 53 annual GP practice meetings and 5 Medicines Optimisation
Clinical Leads meetings, which have all been successfully held virtually.
We have continued to support GP practices to stay within their budget and to do so we have had
to develop new ways of working to use time effectively while working virtually. This has included
developing a new practice report, updated monthly, to support practices to optimise their
medicines use, phasing the work into bite-sized chunks.

Financial Management
All three CCGs in the ICS prescribe in a highly cost effective way. Herts Valleys CCG GP
prescribing continues to be in the best 10% of CCGs in England for the lowest prescribing cost/
(weight adjusted) head:
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England CCGs - Prescribing cost/ASO-PU
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Integrated working
The medicines optimisation team has strengthened links with local hospitals and with partners
across the CCG area in preparation for the transformation ahead.
Hertfordshire and West Essex ICS were chosen as a leading ICS as part of a national project
which develops work across the ICS which completed at the end March 2020. After this work and
funding formally stopped we have continued to work collaboratively, to share learning from our
projects and to meet regularly.
We have worked on planning our future workforce needs, on discharge from hospital
communications, de-prescribing, reduction in waste, encouraging cost effective use of medicine
with biosimilar agents, and improving the spread of projects through leadership. We have taken a
whole system approach to encouraging self-care and purchase of medicines for short-term
conditions which has released substantial savings which can be reinvested into the NHS. We have
implemented the NHS low value medicines policies ensuring we review all historical usage and
only use these medicines in exceptional cases agreed in the national guidance. W e have tried
hard to be unafraid of tackling difficult issues and taking a collaborative approach to finding good
solutions.
During the acute COVID-19 outbreaks we have formed a local ICP pharmacy “cell” which meets
briefly every week to discuss and solve issues. This group has continued to meet to share ideas
and work collaboratively. It improves communication between the different organisations across
the ICP and shares solutions. It ensures we have a joined up approach across the ICP and this
prepares us for working an even more collaborative way in the future.
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Deployments
During the acute COVID outbreaks medicines optimisation staff have been deployed into three
local acute Trusts, into local COVID Hubs and towards the end of the year into COVID vaccination
sites.

COVID Vaccination sites
The head of service acts as COVID vaccination lead for community pharmacies in the ICS.
In addition, Pharmacy assurance visits have been completed for our 10 PCN vaccination sites.

End of Life and Pharmacy
Work on end of life care expanded during the COVID-19 outbreaks. We redeployed a pharmacist
internally to lead on this area. Through this initiative and through linking up with others we
addressed the following:







Prescribing guidelines were agreed during the COVID-19 pandemic;
Reuse of medicines training was developed, delivered and posted on YouTube for use, after
law changes allowed reuse of medications in certain circumstances ;
An anticipatory prescribing drug chart was agreed across the ICS and went live in all areas;
Identified and stopped over-ordering, which could have put immediate need medicines into
the wrong places leading to a lack of essential stock locally;
Immediate Access to Emergency Medicines Scheme was extended to ensure medication is
available at all times at end of life;
Herts Urgent Care – COVID-19 palliative care drug kit content was agreed and standardised
so it was more similar to that used in other parts of the system.

Development of PCN pharmacists
We have employed a dedicated part-time pharmacist to lead on development of PCN Pharmacy
staff who are employed by PCNs to support their work. This post supports the new primary care
network pharmacists by hosting regular short meetings, signposting to existing multidisciplinary
training and helping to establish networks and learning for these staff.

Training
Herts Valleys CCG has become an accredited training site for the training of pre-registration
pharmacists and now supports four trainees a year in collaboration with the local acute Trust (2
students) and in collaboration with a local community pharmacy (2 students). This helps to support
an infrastructure which trains more pharmacists for the local area, which is really needed because
in the whole country as well as locally there are more jobs than pharmacists.
Herts Valleys CCG has been accredited to provide support to pharmacy diploma students in
collaboration with University College London School of Pharmacy.
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In addition, the team have provided some teaching in specialist areas for the University of
Hertfordshire and on national training courses run by the College of Pharmacy Practice.
One of our senior pharmacists has started an MBA apprenticeship run by Ashridge house.

Awards and promotions
We have submitted work for PrescQIPP awards, Public Health “call for action” cases and
published innovative work around review of patients with asthma, reducing use of short acting
inhalers, which is expected to have long term benefits.
Our senior pharmacists have published novel work in peer reviewed journals and our dietitian
continues to be chair of the Advisory Committee on Borderline Substances (ACBS), a national
group that advises the Department of Health and Social Care on drug tariff changes and additions
for borderline substances.
We were delighted that Alison Smith, our Herts Valleys CCG consultant dietitian, was recently
awarded fellowship of the British Dietetic Association (BDA). This is an accolade for inspirational
leadership and requires 5 professional nominations from other colleagues within dietetics and then
a committee decision by the BDA.
Shared care
We have agreed local principles for drugs requiring shared care and started to develop local
collaborative guidelines within this shared framework. Where possible these guidelines apply
across the ICS, streamlining care and encouraging discussion and collaboration which benefits
patient care.

Stoma
We have employed dedicated staff to work on using stoma products in a way that ensures best
care while developing local guidance which promotes best care.
In detail we developed:
 Stoma product/accessory formulary and guidelines, our published publically available formulary
now has a comprehensive stoma section – bridging secondary and primary care prescribing.
 Position statements and patient letters were developed to support GPs.
 Searches for GP clinical systems helped practices identify patients for review.
 MO pharmacist and lead stoma nurse doing stoma patient reviews together (remotely) –
upskilling team members, reviewing patients otherwise lost to follow up.
 ScriptSwitch profile updated with stoma product messages, in line with formulary/guidelines to
support GPs at point of prescribing/de-prescribing.
 Collaborative working (and networking) with surrounding areas’ stoma care nurse teams
ensured smooth transitions even at our borders where policy suggested changing medicines .
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IT
The majority of GP practices have signed up to use Eclipse live – a system which integrates well
with existing IT used locally and which has great potential to improve further patient safety,
through using combined datasets to target patients who may be high risk for admissions. The
implementation of this system in almost all of our GP practices benefits patient safety and is
expected to reduce admissions relating to medicines. It has been successfully implemented in all
but one practice despite the pandemic.
Prescribing Support – Dietetics
Our dietitians support dietetic services, encourage food first and manage prescribing budgets
through developing guidance locally and educating/training staff who prescribe or recommend
dietetic supplements, milks and vitamins. The team work to ensure collaborative dietetic working
across the ICS, meet regularly across the ICS and develop guidelines which are ICS wide.
2020-21 has seen some significant positives for Prescribing Support Dietetics within Herts Valleys
and across the wider ICS. Our updated and simplified guidance regarding baby milks, to manage
cow’s milk protein allergy, continues to be embedded across practices within the CCG, through
audit of product use and training of practice and PCN staff. Our team also continues to work
closely with our acute and community dietetic colleagues. We are seeing a reduction in spend on
these products and a gradual change in practice encouraging earlier diagnosis and referral.
We have increased our cross ICS working and now consider all four Prescribing Support Dietitians
across the ICS to be an integrated team. This team work together to produce resources for which
we then seek ICS wide approval, rather than repeating work in each CCG, and we are trying to
align timescales to enable this approach for the update and implementation of existing guidance.
Herts Valleys CCGs Prescribing Support Dietitians have supported or been instrumental in a
number of national projects in the last year which have included:
 Provision of dietetic expertise to the National Advisory Panel – Care Home Diabetes.
 Update and revision of the Royal College of Physicians Oral Feeding Dilemmas resource
(originally written in 2010).
 Work with the British Dietetic Association to provide training for Care Quality Commission
inspectors on the nutritional needs of care home residents and what should and what inspectors
need to consider.
 Contributed to national guidance being produced by the Royal College of Speech and
Language Therapists on Risk Feeding for patients with dysphagia.
 Wrote ‘End of life care in frailty : Nutrition’ for British Geriatric Society End of Life Care in Frailty
online resource.
 Leading on work with NHSBSA and BNF to re-categorise all nutritional borderline substances.
 Chairing of DHSC Advisory Committee on Borderline Substances and leading on work to
standardise and simplify all indications for which nutritional borderline substances can be
prescribed.
 Working with Eclipse Live to consider how undernutrition can be better recognised and
identified earlier to reduce its impact on overall health.
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 Supporting NHSE with the Enhanced Health in Care Homes guidance relating to nutrition.

Patient feedback
We are committed to embedding patient and public involvement throughout our organisation and
encourage feedback from patients, carers, friends, family and other representatives to identify
where patient experience has not been as expected and can be improved. We encourage all
forms of feedback including complaints. All complaints received into the organisation are managed
in an honest and open way, with the principal aim being to understand and resolve the issue being
raised as well as learn from the experience and take remedial action where necessary.

We also pay close attention to the monitoring of complaints. Repeated complaints or concerns
relating to a particular area or service can be an indicator of serious or systemic failing which we
actively work with our providers to address as quickly as possible.
During 2020-21 124 formal complaints were received and investigated by the CCG, with a further
42 being received for provider organisations. This provides an almost comparable position for
complaints received and investigated by the CCG for the same period in the previous year at 109,
although a significant reduction is noted for the same period for complaints received by the CCG
which were forwarded on to provider organisation to investigate directly at 101. It is anticipated this
reduction is due to COVID-19 implications and further work is underway within the CCG to ensure
that the process to complain is as accessible as possible and therefore enable take up of the
service as appropriate. For 2020-21 the key areas for improvement related to:


Continuing healthcare – poor communication, delays in assessment and decision making
processes;



Commissioning decisions – unhappy with the diagnosis or treatment, NHS Patient Choice,
poor communication and the wait times;



Pharmacy and Medication – unhappy that certain medications cannot be prescribed.

Three complaints were accepted for investigation by the Parliamentary Ombudsman.
1) The complaint file was requested but the PHSO advised in February 2021 that it would not
be pursuing the complaint. Not upheld.
2) The complaint file was sent 4 January 2021. No further contact to date from the PHSO.
Uncertain whether to be investigated or not.
3) The complaint file was sent 11 March 2021. No further contact to date from the PHSO.
Uncertain whether to be investigated or not.
Looking ahead to 2021-22 the CCG will be focusing on improving services further by close
monitoring of complainants against equality protected group characteristics as well as better
understanding of COVID-19 implications on the service and within complaints, in order to establish
if there any related themes for learning that require further action.
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Engaging people and communities
Involving patients and the public in what we do
Effective engagement is one of our key strategic objectives. We aim to continually improve
engagement with GP practices, patients, carers, local people, health and care partners and our
staff to contribute to our plans and influence our work. We also have a legal duty to engage and
involve the public and others in any proposals for change that will impact on people or groups and
how health services are provided to them.
Through our communications channels including our website, weekly Herts Valleys Update email
bulletins and social media we provide regular updates on developments and planned changes and
encourage people to work with us in a number of different ways. This includes attending virtual
events, becoming a patient representative on a committee, project or group or by representing
their local area and networks as a member of a local patient group or on our patient and public
involvement committee (PPIC) which is a sub-committee of our board.
This section details how we have undertaken our engagement this year, continuing to work with
local people through the emergence of COVID-19 which has made it necessary for us to make
changes to the frequency and way we engage.

Compliance with statutory guidance on patient and public participation in commissioning
health and care: the NHS Oversight Framework Patient and Community Engagement
Indicator.
NHS England has a legal duty to assess how well each CCG has discharged its public
involvement duty, as well as a commitment to supporting continuous improvement in public
participation. A robust, and improvement focused, process of national assessment was carried out
for every CCG by NHS England for 2019-20 with Herts Valleys being rated as green overall with a
green star rating for governance and day to day practice.

Participation Strategy
Our participation strategy, developed in partnership with our Patient and Public Involvement
Committee, places an emphasis on how we evaluate participation and feedback to those that
volunteer to support our work in a variety of ways.
We value and rely on people’s views and feedback to help us deliver patient-focused services and
appreciate the importance of letting people know how their contribution has made a
difference. The ‘you said, we did’ page on our website allows participants and the wider
community to see what we have done as a result of their feedback. We also share updates widely,
including annually with a ‘season’s greetings’ card to all our patient volunteers which includes
information about the difference they have made.

Our main aim is to get the patient voice integral to all our discussions and this is how our
conversations mostly operate – with the patient volunteers in the room equally as active and
involved as others, empowered and able to fully contribute to discussions.
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Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) Committee
Our PPIC provides assurance to our board that there is meaningful participation in the business of
the CCG from patients, carers, families and local people across west Hertfordshire. The committee
has two patient volunteers from each of our four localities and a Healthwatch Herts representative
who meet alongside our lead GP for patient and public involvement. They have the opportunity to
formally and regularly discuss and comment on all aspects of CCG business – bringing a patient
perspective to things like strategies and proposals. The committee is chaired by our lay board
member with responsibility for patient and public involvement. A committee patient member also
sits, as a patient representative, on our board. Two patients currently share this role.
Along with other CCG formal business, we suspended formal meetings of the PPIC as part of the
COVID response. However, we have continued to have regular informal meetings with members,
updating them on vaccinations, COVID responses, hospital development plans and other
services. They have been able to find out and question patient involvement and help to enhance
communication with local people and groups

Patient volunteers on other CCG committees, projects and activities
Our volunteers are local patients, carers or members of the public with a personal interest or
involvement in local health services. They bring a patient and community perspective to
discussions, representing a group, a community or their personal views. They help to ensure that
the public and patient voice is integral to all discussions, proposals and plans. Although many of
our committees, projects and activities have been on hold due to the pandemic some of our
volunteers have still been involved virtually, for example taking part in quality visits and as
members of our Medicines Optimisation Clinical Leads (MOCL) group.

Health and Wellbeing Ambassadors
Our health and wellbeing ambassadors are volunteers who help to share information on
consultations, proposals, events and campaigns with a wider community. They also feedback any
community issues or concerns on current health care.
We continue to develop our ambassador role which broadens our opportunity to engage with an
increasing network of local people.
Ambassadors help to identify, within their communities, opportunities to promote information and
campaigns and use their local networks to encourage participation. They have links into numerous
networks, previously untapped, such as dementia cafes, leisure centres and health walks. We also
have links into our Gypsy and Traveller and Transgender communities, local National Childbirth
Trust and Herts Equality Council.
This year ambassadors have shared information about the COVID response, helping to ensure
that their communities receive up to date and reputable information from a trusted source. They
have also helped to distribute more targeted information such as our children’s minor illness
leaflet.
We continue to review this programme, considering any lessons learnt, to develop it further and
recruit more members so that we can better engage with all our local communities.
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GP practice participation group (PPG) network
We have an established PPG network which has a growing patient and practice staff membership.
This year it has grown to 250 direct members – an increase of over 10 per cent on last year. This
network, which meets regularly, helps to broaden our engagement and establish communication
channels with the ever-increasing number of local people who are involved with their GP surgery
patient group.
Information sent through the network, such as virtual engagement event invites, is shared more
widely as practices routinely share this information with their patient group members.

GP Practice Participation Groups (PPG) Incentive Scheme
In response to feedback from patients and GP staff we have implemented a PPG incentive
scheme to financially support the development of practice patient groups. We worked closely with
the PPG network to make sure the scheme is workable and members have championed the need
for it to be properly resourced and have inputted into the content of the scheme.
The scheme was developed with our PPIC, practice managers forum, primary care colleagues,
lead involvement GP and patients. It was approved by our Primary Care Commissioning
Committee and became active in April 2020. The voluntary scheme allows practices, working with
their PPG, to rate their level of participation and receive payment accordingly. The National
Association of Patient Participation has shown an interest in the scheme and following the
pandemic we will work with them to build on it and learn from the experience, to be shared wider.

Patient Engagement Networks
To maintain contact with our patient networks and other stakeholders we hold regular engagement
meetings which are well attended by patient volunteers and PPG members. Meetings have been
held virtually during the pandemic. Attendance averages between 25 and 50 people. These
meetings enable patients to become better informed about the NHS and its services and to
become stronger influencers and connectors within their own networks by increasing their
knowledge and confidence.
At these sessions, we provide context to proposals and developments from both a national and
local level, for example highlighting how the CCG is responding to COVID, plans for recovery,
NHS 111 First, mental health services and the review of Mount Vernon Cancer Centre.
These sessions also allow colleagues to hear, first hand, people’s experience of using services so
that they can factor the patient perspective into their planning and respond to patients’ concerns or
misconceptions.
Let’s get connected
We understand the importance of connecting communities particularly during a pandemic, helping
to build cohesion, resilience and break down barriers. To support this we have facilitated a
programme of virtual events: ‘Let’s get connected’ which bring together members of GP practice
patient groups and members from a range of community support groups. They are an opportunity
for patient practice group members to be aware of and link into the varied and diverse community
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support networks that are available locally. These events have included coping with bereavement,
memory event, Herts Independent Living service and working with the voluntary and community
sector.

Reader Panel
Our reader panel, made up of volunteer patients, carers, community members and others, helps
us to get information right for the public. Panel members review leaflets and other material and
feedback on whether information is easy to understand, accessible and free from jargon. They
have been exceptionally active this year and we have recruited more members.
The panel’s review of countywide booklets on winter wellness for older people and on children’s
minor illnesses, patient letters on changes to prescriptions and other general leaflets led to
changes in content to make information more relatable for the audience, changes in language to
use words that are more familiar to patients, amending the layout and font size to make important
information clearer and changes to avoid ambiguity.

Engagement on hospital redevelopment
In May 2020 West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust (WHHT) and Herts Valleys CCG announced the
start of engagement on the outline business case (OBC) for hospital redevelopment.
Working together we have developed a programme of engagement that seeks to hear from as
many people as possible. Meetings have taken place virtually during the pandemic.
Existing trusted and established channels and forums (such as e-newsletters and CCG patient
networks) have been used to reach various audiences to provide information and to promote
engagement. Closer working has also been established with local councils to extend the reach of
information.
Engagement activities have been led by WHHT with support and oversight from the CCG so that
we can be assured that information presented is clear and accessible to all and that we are
reaching a wide demographic. Key activities are outlined below.
A stakeholder reference group (SRG), established in June 2020, has provided a means of
updating and involving interested people in the redevelopment. This has included work to
reappraise site options, digital transformation and the clinical strategy. Some sessions have invited
feedback while others have followed a question and answer format. Membership is open to all and
the SRG currently numbers 130, including many people from the CCG’s patient network.
A professional reference group, which mirrors the SRG has provided a forum for clinical and staff
engagement. Membership is mostly hospital trust staff but there is representation from the CCG,
GPs and other partner organisations.
A shortlist survey in September invited views from the public and NHS staff on the proposed
shortlist of options for redevelopment and the recommended preferred option prior to
consideration by a joint meeting of the CCG and hospital trust boards on 1 October. The CCG
helped to promote the survey that received 3368 responses from the public as well as NHS staff.
There was a roughly 50:50 split between those who agreed or had no view either way on the
proposed shortlist or recommended preferred option and those who disagreed.
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Those opposing the preferred option of developing the three existing hospital sites have continued
to campaign for the development of a new hospital on a new site.
Analysis of feedback from the first phase of engagement up to 1 October showed that participants
are mostly white and mostly older residents. In developing engagement we continue to seek to
attract more feedback from younger age groups as well as from black, Asian and minority ethnic
communities to ensure that feedback is representative of the communities we serve.
From October engagement has started to focus on the design of buildings and services over a
three site model. During November and December there was engagement and a survey on design
principles with substantial input from the CCG.
During February and March 2021 WHHT ran the first phase of an engagement, Your Care, Your
Views, on the configuration of services across the three sites, linked to the clinical strategy. The
trust published its proposals in engagement documents and other material on its website and
led an extensive programme of online meetings. These outlined proposals for new ways to
provide care in various areas such as emergency care, women’s and children’s services,
diagnostics, planned surgical care, cancer services and long term conditions. To reach more
people, particularly seldom heard groups, the trust also ran bespoke virtual sessions for
community groups such as Watford African Caribbean Association, Carers in Hemel, Watford
Deaf Association, Watford Humanist Group and Parkinson’s West Herts.
Feedback from the engagement is to be considered by the trust board when it decides on a
preferred option in terms of estate facilities on 12 May. This feedback was presented to the CCG
board, on 27 May 2021.

Reducing health inequality
This section explains how the CCG has discharged its duty under Section 14T of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) to have regard to the need to reduce inequalities.
A key challenge recognised by the CCG is ensuring that our local communities experience
equitable health outcomes across our population. We continuously monitor and analyse the
impact of our policies and programmes on different protected groups in the community and carry
out evidence-based service reviews. As an organisation, we work with partners including
Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board and our ICS to address the wider determinants of
health.
Health Inequalities and social prescribing
In its guidance from January 2019 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2019/01/social-prescribing-community-based-support-summary-guide.pdf NHS
England and Improvement states that one of the outcomes from good social prescribing is
“communities understand the power of social prescribing in reducing health inequalities, by
supporting a power shift, enabling people to take more control of their lives, be less isolated and
make connections”.
The CCG’s social prescribing strategy has continued to help address health inequalities and
facilitate enhanced organisation of the system. The High Intensity User navigator project (pilot)
demonstrated how addressing social determinants reduced patients’ use of A&E by 40% and is
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being incorporated into the work of PCN Link Workers. The Hospital and Community Navigator
Service commissioned in partnership with HCC now has 73 staff of whom 26 are PCN
LWs. During 2020 they dealt with 12,000 referrals but also made 5,000 direct outreach calls to
shielding/isolating people/carers/SMI lists; 1,000 calls to those on the housing vulnerable list, 845
calls to book flu jabs and 397 to book COVID-19 vaccinations. Fifty per cent of clients reported a
statistically significant improvement in their wellbeing and reduced isolation. These are much lower
figures than previous years, but easily explained by the very difficult context of lockdowns and
anxiety from COVID. Primary care has been clear about the benefits from these workers in
harnessing the resources of the Voluntary Sector in general with the help of HertsHelp. Carers in
Hertfordshire reached out to 9,000 family carers (whose health is demonstrated by GP Survey
annually as worse than their peers). In partnership with HCC, the CCG led the bid on behalf of
charities in the ICS area to address key COVID related disadvantage, bringing in £712k for the
ICS; in January 2021 a winter small grants process (modelled on the process run by the CCG in
partnership with HCC in the summer) was run to help charities supporting those struggling to stay
independent and well this winter; on 1 February a new digital inclusion manager started work to
address COVID’s impact on the most marginalised access to IT and the skills to use it. In March
2021, two BAME social prescribing/advocacy and capacity building workers, one for Herts Valleys,
one for ENH started work. Strategically, a Community-Driven Health strategy, pulling together all
this work under the four themes of: Access and Social Prescribing, Carers, Volunteering and
joined up strategic commissioning of the VCSE, was taken to both Governing bodies in March
2021 to clarify vision and impact of this work.
Mental Health further developments
We have increased funding for psychological therapies under the improving access to
psychological therapies (IAPT) programme. Under the IAPT programme, by the end of March
2021 there had been 11,259 (of which 1,449 were through AQP) people entering treatment. The
recovery rate for those who have completed treatment is 53% (HPFT). We have also maintained
waiting times at well above the national targets of 75% of people seen within 6 weeks, 94%
reported in March data (HPFT) and 100% of people within 18 weeks.
Due to the current pandemic referrals declined to IAPT services, however these are now on the
increase. Herts IAPT providers are continuing to market and communicate IAPT services.
In 2021-22 we are aiming to increase the number of people accessing our IAPT services. We are
working alongside our physical health care commissioners to increase access to psychological
therapy services to support people with long term conditions such as musculoskeletal issues,
cardiology and respiratory diagnosis.
Work on mental health crisis support provision in Hertfordshire has continued with the launch of
NHS 111 option 2, and the 24/7 mental health helpline providing Hertfordshire residents with
quicker crisis support from the mental health trust. The national Crisis Transformation programme
has continued in line with the Long Term Plan, and has seen crisis cafes open in Hertfordshire,
and the development of a home treatment element of the existing Crisis and Assessment Team
within the mental health trust. A range of ED avoidance schemes have been stood up in response
to the COVID-19 pandemic, to improve patient flow away from general hospital emergency
departments, and these have involved partnership working between HPFT and the voluntary
sector. The Crisis Care Concordat partnership is also restarting as we reach the end of 2020-21.
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Patients with dementia have been greatly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic this year. The
diagnosis against prevalence rate in Herts Valleys area fell from 67.9% to 59.3% during the
pandemic. Work has focussed on maintaining the diagnosis pathway services, and improving
public awareness of reasons to seek support. Carer support services have also been expanded to
support carers of people with dementia at home.
Working with our partners we have been successful in our bid for community transformation
funding for the next three years. The aim is to move towards true integration of services, removing
barriers to access to Mental Health services through your GP and provided locally. The
transformation of the community provision will ensure that adults and older adults with severe
mental health problems receiving care delivered at the right time, in the right place, by the right
person enabling them to live well in their communities. The new teams will provide assessment,
treatment and person-centred care planning and support in collaboration with primary care
colleagues; social prescribers; community health services. We will work with a range of existing
community resources addressing the wider determinants of health to confidently m anage people
with long-term complex mental health and physical health needs within communities. The
planning and commissioning of these services will be coproduced with both service users and
carers.

Learning disabilities
HVCCG data indicates that the CCG achieved the amount of annual GP health checks undertaken
for people with a learning disability: the target is 67% and the figure for HVCCG is 81.8%, an
increase on the 2019-20 figure of 69.7%. Delivery of Annual Health Checks for people with
learning disabilities has remained a priority during the pandemic. This is in order to reduce the risk
of increased unnecessary deaths amongst people with a learning disability. A phased pathway to
completing Annual Health Checks was developed by the Learning Disability Nursing Service which
enabled checks to continue with reduced time in face to face contact.

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
CAMHS is a range of provisions supporting children and young people in relation to their mental
health and emotional wellbeing. These services are provided through health providers along with
Hertfordshire County Council and the voluntary sector.
Rates of probable mental ill health in school age children and young people have increased from
10.8% in 2017 to 16% in 2020. Children and young people have experienced a range of social
and emotional challenges during periods of lockdown. Their mental health improves when they
return to school, however. Initial modelling suggests increases in depression, anxiety and trauma
are possible in the future.
Feedback from children and young people has guided our response to changing needs.
Resources have been centrally collated and communication has been streamlined and enhanced.
A new helpline for children and young people has been established and existing resources have
been signposted to such things as the school nurse Chat Health text message service, Kooth
online support, free national quality assured apps. Schools have received extensive training.
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Referral patterns have been different during the pandemic, with a surge in September, but overall
numbers have not increased. Caseloads have remained static and services continue to meet key
performance indicators. Most children and young people have been offered virtual support, the
outcomes for which are consistent with face to face intervention. Crisis presentations and high
levels of acuity and complexity have been observed. Crisis support moved to 24/7 availability in
April and this model continues. Additional bereavement support has been put in place. There
have been pressures on psychiatric hospital beds for children and young people and eating
disorder services – these are nationally recognised challenges. The Mental Health and Learning
Disability Integrated Care Partnership are leading a demand and capacity programme and
strategic response to potential future increases in need.
The Hertfordshire CAMHS Transformation Plan sets out the priorities in improving mental health
outcomes and access to appropriate support.
Herts Valleys CCG, East and North Herts CCG and the County Council have joint responsibility for
delivery of Hertfordshire’s CAMHS Transformation Plan. This aims to increase access for children
and young people to early intervention and prevention provision across the five years of the
programme to 2020-21. It also focuses on delivering a year on year increase of children and
young people with a diagnosable mental health condition receiving treatment.
Progress has been made in a number of areas since 2015. The major areas of additional
investment under the CAMHS Transformation Plan have been:







An expansion of the dedicated eating disorders team for children and young people.
Increasing the capacity of the CAMHS services to improve access.
Working with schools to improve their knowledge and expertise, as well as improving links to
specialist CAMHS services.
Increasing availability of support for children and young people experiencing a mental health
crisis.
Developing a local specialist community perinatal mental health service for mothers during
pregnancy and in the first year after birth.
Reducing waiting times for autism diagnosis.

Over the past 12 months, there has been continued investment in, and work towards, increasing
access to evidence based mental health interventions in a timely way to help children and young
people at the earliest opportunity, develop support for parents and carers, improve support for
children and young people experiencing crisis and or trauma, and engaging in sexually harmful
behaviours. Our perinatal mental health service has been shortlisted for an award two years in a
row and our eating disorder service has received an award and a number of commendations. Both
services continue to receive excellent feedback from patients.
The NHS has set national targets to increase the number of children and young people accessing
NHS funded support in line with the Five Year Forward View for mental health. The numbers who
could benefit from help are based on national estimates of prevalence in 2004 and applied to the
Hertfordshire population of children and young people in 2015. In Hertfordshire this equates to
21,699 children and young people. Since 2017-18 Hertfordshire has met the requirement set by
the NHS to provide access to provision: for 30% of these children and young people in 2017-18;
for 32% in 2018-19; national data published for 2019-20 is not complete but local data confirms
the target was met. The national NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019 has set out
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further increases over the next 5 years. Our local ambition is shared with the NHS Long Term Plan
to deliver support to 100% of those that need it.
In December 2018, it was announced that Hertfordshire had been successful in our application
and would be one of 25 national trailblazer sites in the first rollout of Mental Health School Teams
(MHST). The initial trailblazer for Hertfordshire was for two MHSTs, one in each CCG area.
Hertfordshire partnered with West Essex to submit bids in 2019 and 2020 securing an additional
four teams: a dedicated team to support Special Schools and teams serving Harlow, Watford and
Stevenage. Each team will aim to support around 500 children and young people a year.

Health and wellbeing strategy
Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board
The Health & Wellbeing Board brings together the NHS, public health, adult social care and
children’s services, including elected representatives from the County and District Councils,
Hertfordshire Healthwatch and the Police and Crime Commissioner, to plan how best to meet the
needs of Hertfordshire’s population and tackle local inequalities in health.
The CCG works with partners taking a joined-up approach to tackle the causes of poor health as
well as supporting people to make healthier lifestyle choices and improving healthcare.
Hertfordshire has a strong history of partnership working and to date has had one of the largest
pooled Better Care Funds in the country. This brings NHS and social care money into a single
shared fund to help prevent older and vulnerable people going into hospital when they don’t need
to and provide them with support in their community.
The Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy can be viewed here:
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the- council/partnerships/healthand-wellbeing-board/hertfordshire-health-and-wellbeing- strategy-2016-–-2020.pdf

Sustainable Development
As a public sector organisation responsible for spending public funds, we have an obligation to
work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure
healthcare services.
Sustainability means using public money wisely, the smart and efficient use of natural resources
and building healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of social, environmental and
economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the context
of the rising cost of natural resources.
In a year where the NHS had to deal with one of the biggest health challenges ever seen, a
national commitment to taking on the challenge of tackling climate change and reaching net zero
carbon has been maintained, as outlined in the new 2020 NHS Zero Report ‘Delivering a ‘Net
Zero’ National Health Service’. The report sets out ambitious targets for the NHS to become
carbon-neutral by 2040 for delivery of care, and by 2045 when taking into account the wider
supply chain, patients and visitors.
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Our sustainable development management plan

One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of a Green
Plan (formerly known as Sustainable Development Management Plan or SDMP)
The Green Plan forms a key part of a sustainable healthcare strategy to ensure services remain fit
for purpose today and for the future. It helps organisations to identify waste reduction
opportunities, financial savings and address national priorities such as carbon reduction.

For 2020/2021, we have not achieved the expected progress against actions within our
Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP) or implemented the Green Plan. Limited
time has been available to dedicate to the sustainability work programme because of the impact of
the pandemic on staff priorities.
In 2021/2022, we will be putting together a Green Plan aligned to the NHS Zero report, the metrics
framework being developed by the national team as well as updated Green Plan Guidance to
support NHS organisations with implementing the NHS Zero report.

Our environmental impact

In 2020/2021, the quarterly report monitoring our environmental impact was affected by the
pandemic and there was no data available from the national team. The CCG is currently
reviewing its quarterly report for a simplified report that is fit for purpose and aligned to new
metrics being developed by the national team.

Sustainable Development Assessment Tool
One of the ways in which we measure our impact as an organisation on corporate social
responsibility is through the use of the Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT). The
last time we used the SDAT self-assessment was in February 2021 scoring 61%, no change from
the 61% score we received in December 2019. The lack of progress in this area has been
significantly affected by the pandemic’s impact on organisational and staff priorities.
On 28th February 2021, the SDU national team decommissioned the SDAT. This will be replaced
with a Green Plan Support Tool by 1 October 2021 to support the development of Green Plans by
NHS organisations, helping to prioritise actions, calculate the carbon reduction and costs
associated with each action that align with the new Green Plan guidance and delivery reports.
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Sustainable use of resources

We spent £6662 on energy in 2020/21. This includes £5489 on gas and £1173 on electricity.

The NHS produces many tonnes of plastic waste every year across catering clinical practice and
its supply chain. In recognition of this, the CCG is committed to reducing its use of single-use
plastics. In 2020/2021, the CCG stopped purchasing plastic drinking cups for meetings and office
spaces and can provide a nil return for our use of plastic cups this year in comparison to
2019/2020 when the CCG purchased 1,100 plastic cups.

Our Progress
Locally for NHS Herts Valley CCG and, in line with government legislation, during 2020/21 the
organisation successfully moved largely to remote working as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.
Our health and safety arrangements were reviewed and the risks assessed, which continue to be
monitored. A number of Covid-19 protection arrangements have led directly to a number of
sustainable positives, which support lowering the organisation’s carbon footprint including:










The use of Microsoft Teams video and telephone conferencing, reducing the need for faceto-face contact leading to reduced business travel and commuting has contributed to cutting
carbon emissions and improving air quality.
Video and telephone conferencing for patients has reduced the need for face-to-face
contact, leading to reduced patient travel and has contributed to cutting carbon emissions
and improving air quality.
Previously occasional cycling and walking for business and commuting purposes,
sustainable and active travel options has contributed to reducing carbon emissions,
improving air quality, promoting better health and wellbeing.
Reducing occupation levels in office areas by encouraging working from home has
contributed to reducing business travel and commuting, cutting carbon emissions and
improving air quality.
Major reduction in circulation of printed papers and reports has contributed to minimising
virus transfer risk, a reduction in the use of natural resources and associated carbon
emissions.

The CCG continues to maintain a number of policies and plans in place to ensure that the
organisation is able to react to changing circumstances, including those related to climate change.
These include:





Business Continuity Plan
Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response Policy
Incident Response Plan
Risk Management Policy
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As an organisation continually adapting to the changes brought about by Covid-19 we will want to
focus, as part of our recovery, on what we might like to preserve going forward that is more
environmentally sustainable and aligned to the Green Plan.
To read our full report, please visit our website.

Signed:

Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer
Dated: 14 June 2021
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT

Signed:

Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer
Date 14 June 2021
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The purpose of the accountability section of the annual report is to meet key accountability
requirements for Parliament. The Accountability Report addresses the three key elements of:
(i) Corporate Governance Report
(ii) Remuneration and Staff Report
(iii) Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
Under each section, the Accountability Report details how the CCG meets the entity’s
responsibility to ensure that it provides full accountability through the adoption of best practices in
line with corporate governance norms and codes.
Auditors have reviewed the Accountability Report for consistency with other information in the
financial statements and have provided an opinion on the following disclosures, which must clearly
be identified as audited within the Accountability Report:









Disclosures on Parliamentary accountability, as detailed in paragraph 3.81 of the Department
of Health and Social Care (DHSC) group accounting manual;
Single total figure of remuneration for each director;
Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) disclosures for each director;
Payments to past directors, if relevant.
Payments for loss of office, if relevant;
“Fair pay” (pay multiples) disclosures;
Exit packages, if relevant; and
Analysis of staff numbers and costs.

Corporate Governance Report
The purpose of the corporate governance report is to explain the composition and organisation of
the entity’s governance structures, and how they support the achievement of the entity’s
objectives.
As a minimum the Corporate Governance Report must include:
-

Members report
Statement of Accounting/Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
Governance Statement
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Members Report
Dr Nicolas Small was the Chair of the CCG and Jane Halpin was the Accountable Officer from 1
June 2020.
There are seventeen members of the CCG board.
Board Member profiles
Information about our Governing Body (board), including key responsibilities, membership
and attendance records can be found on our website.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/leadership

Member practices
The CCG membership now consists of 55 GP practices.
The member practices are arranged into the four localities of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and
Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these localities has a Locality Clinical Chair
who leads the Locality Committee, which is made up of representatives from member practices.
The Locality Clinical Chair is also a member of the CCG Board and they each have a portfolio in
which they are responsible for.
Information about our member practices can be found on our website:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/leadership

Dacorum practices (16)
Archway Surgery
Bennetts End Surgery
Coleridge House Medical Centre
Everest House Surgery
Fernville Surgery
Gossoms End Surgery
Grovehill Medical Centre
Haverfield Surgery
Highfield Surgery
Kings Langley Surgery (The Nap)
Lincoln House Surgery
Manor Street Surgery
Parkwood Surgery
Rothschild House Surgery
The New Surgery
Woodhall Farm Medical Centre

Hertsmere practices (9)
Annandale Surgery
Fairbrook Medical Centre
Highview Medical Centre
Little Bushey Surgery
Parkfield Medical Centre
Schopwick Surgery
The Grove Medical Centre
Theobald Medical Centre
The Red House Group of Practices
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St Albans and Harpenden practices
(12)
Colney Medical Centre
Davenport House Surgery
Elms Medical Practice
Grange Street Surgery
Harvey Group Practice
Hatfield Road Surgery
Lattimore and Village Surgery
Maltings Surgery
Midway Surgery
Parkbury House Surgery
The Lodge Group
The Village Surgery

Watford and Three Rivers practice (18)
Abbotswood Medical Centre
Attenborough Surgery
Baldwins Lane Surgery
Bridgewater Surgeries
Chorleywood Health Centre
Gade Surgery
Garston Medical Centre
Manor View Practice
New Road Surgery
Pathfinder Practice
Sheepcot Medical Centre
South Oxley Surgery
Suthergrey House Medical Centre
The Colne Practice
The Consulting Rooms
The Elms Surgery
Vine House Health Centre
Watford Health Centre

Composition of Governing Body
T here are seventeen members of the CCG board:








Two general practitioners from each of the four locality areas, one of whom is the Chair of the
CCG and one of whom is the deputy clinical chair.
Four lay members, one of whom is the appointed deputy chair of the CCG. Among these
members, one has responsibility for governance matters, one for public and patient
involvement, and one for primary care (medical services) commissioning.
A secondary care specialist doctor#
Four Executive members: the Chief Executive Officer (Accountable Officer), the Chief Finance
Officer, the Director of Nursing and the HVCCG Managing Director
Also in regular attendance at board meetings, in an advisory capacity, are the Director of
Primary Care Transformation, Interim Head of Corporate Governance, Associate Director of
Communications and Engagement, Director of Workforce and ODL, a patient representative
and a representative of Healthwatch Hertfordshire.

#

Note: the secondary care specialist doctor post is currently vacant. In anticipation of the CCG merging with others in
Hertfordshire and west Essex by April 2021, this vacancy was not filled. As we are now transitioning towards the ICS
becoming the statutory body and taking the powers of CCGs, this vacancy will not be advertised in 2021-22. However,
the HVCCG board is meeting in common with ENHCCG and WECCG throughout 2021-22, meaning that there will be
specialist secondary care input to their discussions.

Information about the composition of our Governing Body (board), including key
responsibilities and membership can be found on our website.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/leadership
Attendance records can be found here: https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/index.php?cID=348
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The CCG membership (see pages 57 and 58) is accountable for exercising the statutory
functions of the CCG, which can be found in our constitution.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/5316/0751/9666/200924__Herts_Valleys_CCG
_Constitution_Approved_by_HVCCG.pdf

The CCG Governing Body shall exercise the functions of the CCG governing body as set put
in legislation, and in particular sections 14L (2) and (3) of the 2006 Act, including: ensuring
that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and in accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance,
which include the Nolan Principles.
 Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees, office
holders or other persons providing services to the CCG.
 Approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations.
 The membership has chosen to grant authority for most functions to a governing body, our
board, to act on their behalf. This is formalised in our published detailed financial policies.
Highlights and key decisions made by the board in 2020-21 are detailed in our decision
register.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/documents/corporate/topic/387/CCG_Reports_and_Publications/534

Further, in discharging functions of the CCG that have been delegated to the CCG, board
commitments or joint committees, individuals must:

Comply with the principle of good governance, including the Nolan Principles.



Operate in accordance with the CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
Comply with the CCG’s standing orders.




Comply with the CCG’s arrangements for discharging its statutory duties.
Where appropriate, ensure that member practices have had the opportunity to
contribute to the CCG’s decision-making process.
Information about our committee and sub-committees of the board, including key
responsibilities and membership can be found in our integrated governance protocol .
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Committee(s), including Audit Committee

Audit Committee membership during 2020/21:
Paul Smith Board Lay Member and Audit Chair
Stuart Bloom, Board Lay Member
Alison Gardner, Board Lay Member
Rami Eliad, GP Board Member
Catherine Page, GP Board Member
Attendance records and highlights of committee work over the year can be found on our
website using the link below:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/index.php?cID=348

Charts have also been published there for the CCG’s statutory committees:


Audit Committee



Remuneration Committee



Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committee

Information about our committee and sub-committees of the board, including key
responsibilities and membership can be found in our integrated governance protocol .
Please see the integrated governance protocol for details of the membership of the Audit,
Remuneration and Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committees. Membership
and effectiveness of the board committees can be found under Governance arrangements and
effectiveness” below at page [insert]. Additionally, there is an executive management team, which
meets fortnightly to oversee the operational aspects of the CCG business, and a financial
sustainability meeting, which met fortnightly throughout most of 2020-21 to monitor the
implementation and delivery of the CCG’s transformation programme. The meeting has
temporarily been stood down to reflect the pause of the CCG’s transformation programme during
the COVID emergency response period.

Register of Interests
All registers of interest can be found on our website here: https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/what-we-do/managing-conflicts-interest
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Personal data related incidents
The organisation has not reported any Information Governance Serious Untoward Incidents to
the Information Commissioner’s Office in 2020/21.
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG board at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
 so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditor
is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report;
 the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him or
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware
of it.

Modern Slavery Act
Herts Valleys CGG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and
human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the financial year ending 31
March 2021 is published on our website at:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/intranet/safeguarding/adult-safeguarding-domestic-abuse#modernslavery-and-human-trafficking.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Dr Jane Halpin to be the
Accountable Officer of Herts Valleys CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:









The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure
that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and
with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance
with Section14Rof the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals
basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group
and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial
year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of
the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the
accounts;
 Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
 Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements
required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.
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As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning
Group’s auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware.

Signed:

Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer
Dated: 14 June 2021
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Governance Statement
Introduction and context
Herts Valleys CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on1 April 2013 under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular,
required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers
necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2020, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from NHS
England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and objectives,
whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial
propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically
and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
This has been achieved by:
a) Undertaking governance reviews;
b) Adoption of standards and procedures that facilitate speaking out and the raising of concerns
including a freedom to speak up guardian;
c) Adopting CCG values that include standards of propriety in relation to the stewardship of public
funds, impartiality, integrity and objectivity;
d) By adopting the ‘Good Governance Standard’ for Public Services
e) By adopting the ‘Standards of Behaviour’ published by the Committee on Standards in Public
Life (1995) known as the ‘Nolan Principles’
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f) By adopting the seven key principles of the NHS Constitution
g) By complying with relevant legislation including such as the Equality Act 2010; and
h) By adopting standards set out in the Professional Standard Authority’s guidance ‘Standards for
Members of NHS Boards and Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Bodies in England’.
The CCG membership has delegated the vast majority of functions to the governing body but the
following are reserved to the membership:
 Consideration and approval of applications to NHS England on any matter concerning changes
to the CCG’s Constitution;
 Approval of the CCG’s overarching Scheme of Reservation and Delegation;
 Suspension of standing orders;
 Approval of the arrangements for identifying practice members to represent practices in matters
concerning the work of the CCG and electing the GP members of the CCG Governing Body. It
should be noted that GP board member tenures were approved for extension in November
2020. They now extend to March 2022 to support the transition process to new healthcare
structures during 2021-22.
The membership body which is the GP Forum met two times during the year where the key
highlights were:









Management of Commissioning continued during the COVID pandemic;
Support and approval of the COVID Vaccination Programme;
Approval of the minimum income contract with West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust;
Continuation of the NHS Long Term Plan;
Transition to mobilisation phase of the new adult community services contract;
Development of the Integrated Care System and Integrated Care Partnership;
Recruitment of a Joint Accountable Officer - commenced in June 2020;
Continuation of joint meetings and committees in common to support preparation for CCG
alignment and transition to ICS as the statutory body in April 2022;
 We were formally acknowledged as an ICS in April 2020, but we still remain a CCG and
continue working on CCG alignment with colleagues. Original plans to merge by April 2021
have been postponed due to incident management of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Our Governing Body (Board)

The CCG membership (see pages 54-55) is accountable for exercising the statutory functions of
the CCG, which can be found in our constitution.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/5316/0751/9666/200924__Herts_Valleys_CCG_Co
nstitution_Approved_by_HVCCG.pdf
The Governing Body met regularly last year in both public and private sessions. During the year
the GP Forum and the Governing Body worked together to consider the benefits of developing an
Integrated Care System (ICS) and Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) for Hertfordshire and west
Essex. This is in line with the national NHS requirements that will cover all of the country by April
2021, and the NHS Long Term Plan
The CCG Governing Body shall exercise the functions of the CCG governing body as set out in
legislation, and in particular sections 14L (2) and (3) of the 2006 Act, including: ensuring that the
CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and in accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance, which include the
Nolan Principles.



Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees, office holders
or other persons providing services to the CCG.
Approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations. The membership has
chosen to grant authority for most functions to a governing body, our board, to act on their
behalf. This is formalised in our published detailed financial policies.

Information about our Membership Body and Governing Body (board), including key
responsibilities, membership and attendance records can be found on our website.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/leadership
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/index.php?cID=348
Highlights and key decisions made by the board in 2020-21 are detailed in our decision register.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/1115/9791/7444/200820__HVCCG_Decision_Regis
ter_Q1_2016_to_CURRENT.pdf

Further, in discharging functions of the CCG that have been delegated to the CCG board,
committees or joint committees, individuals must:







Comply with the principle of good governance, including the Nolan Principles.
Operate in accordance with the CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
Comply with the CCG’s standing orders.
Comply with the CCG’s arrangements for discharging its statutory duties.
Where appropriate, ensure that member practices have had the opportunity to contribute to the
CCG’s decision-making process.

Information about our committee and sub-committees of the board, including key responsibilities
and membership can be found in our integrated governance protocol .
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Attendance records and highlights of committee work over the year can be found on our website
using the links below:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/index.php?cID=348
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/1115/9791/7444/200820__HVCCG_Decision_Regis
ter_Q1_2016_to_CURRENT.pdf
Charts have also been published here for the CCG’s statutory committees:




Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committee.

UK Corporate Governance Code

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. However, we
have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon the best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be
relevant to the clinical commissioning group.
Evidence that the Code’s principles were applied is provided through the integrated governance
protocol .

Discharge of Statutory Functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm
that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with
each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation
of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates
have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all
of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
The CCG has robust arrangements in place to ensure effective risk management.
During 2020-21, the CCG has sustained its continuous improvement approach to
governance and risk management. The integrated governance protocol was
reviewed and updated to clarify the systems and processes and behaviours by which
HVCCG leads, directs and controls its functions in order to achieve its strategic
objectives. Mandatory training on governance arrangements is included as part of
the CCG’s induction programme for new employees and members of the board. The
CCG’s system of internal control, incorporating both corporate and clinical
governance, puts in place measures to both prevent and detect potential threats and
deter any lack of compliance with effective governance.
The board assurance framework (BAF) is being used to make sure that we focus on
the key risks to delivering the CCG’s strategic objectives at every board and
committee meeting, within a framework of robust governance. The procedures for
submitting board and committee papers provide a clear focus on risk and assurance
and this approach has been refreshed and underpinned by training in 2020-21.
Directors are additionally required to sign off to confirm that all appropriate
procedures for equality, quality and data protection impact assessments have been
completed. Refresher training on impact assessments has been arranged in April
2021 for all of those who write papers and our board members will be supporting this
session.
The internal operational risk management function is performed by the senior
leadership team (SLT). The SLT provides a forum for peer challenge and discuss ion
of risk and for a collective approach to the management of organisation wide and
system risk. Strategic and operational risks are considered in detail by SLT
members, with any concerns escalated to the HVCCG executive team. Discussion at
SLT meetings ensures that organisational wide impacts and interdependencies can
be understood. SLT members also raise awareness within teams that understanding
and managing risk is an everyday part of the CCG’s commissioning responsibilities
by discussing their directorate teams at team meetings.
Risk is intrinsic to the provision of healthcare and from the CCG’s perspective: the
consequences of the risks inherent in commissioning decisions must be understood
before decisions are made. Following on from whole team training sessions in 2019,
weekly drop-in sessions with the Deputy Head of Corporate Governance have been
introduced in 2020 in order to support individual members of staff with risk management
and application of this information to the board and committee front sheets.
As part of its plans to become further involved in its collaboration with ICS partners
during 2020/21, HVCCG has been cross-referencing not only CCG objectives, but also
ICS priorities and work stream outputs to its BAF risks throughout 2020/21 in order to
improve their management and the sharing of good quality risk information across the
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local healthcare system. A board development session was held in February 2020 to
explore methods of assurance and key risk indicators in relation to system risks to inform
the development of the BAF for 2020/21. That happened to reflect and facilitate the
greater collaboration taking place throughout the health and care system in order to put
in place more effective plans for the mitigation of strategic system risks going forward.
Public involvement in the management of the healthcare system’s strategic and
significant risks is an ongoing commitment for HVCCG. Widespread consultation has
taken place with local bodies, the public, politicians and other key stakeholders in order to
secure their involvement in plans to transform the delivery of care in west Hertfordshire
and by so doing, manage the principle risks to achievement of the CCG’s strategic
objectives. Consultation on future commissioning plans; urgent care strategy including
acute reconfiguration; and the re-commissioning of adult community services have been
overseen by the Associate Director for communications and engagement. HVCCG’s
Chair, Chief Executive Officer and members of the executive team continue to meet with
local members of Parliament to discuss their plans and promote public involvement,
understanding and support. The CCG has led work to recruit patient and public
representatives to panels evaluating procurement options. A stakeholder participation
strategy supports greater public engagement, particularly among disadvantaged groups.
The strategy incorporates themes to address issues highlighted by the national
improvement and assessment framework for engagement. An increase in the number
and work of community health ambassadors has also taken place to encourage
involvement from a wider cross-section of the west Hertfordshire population.
Risks are formally identified through two routes:
1)

The board assurance framework (BAF) process, which assesses and manages
the principle risks associated with the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives.
Monthly reviews of BAF risks take place with individual SLT and Executive
members before being discussed collectively at executive team meetings. The
executive team agrees a BAF proposal for discussion at committees and
presentation to the board for approval. Each committee of the board receives,
quarterly, a more detailed BAF report relating to the strategic risks in its sphere of
responsibility, so that the committee can question and challenge the controls and
actions in place to manage risk and provide assurance to the board. Committees
and the board are also asked to notify any new risks identified during the course of
a meeting. Any feedback received from committees of the board is incorporated into
both the committee Chairs’ reports and the BAF proposal to board prepared by the
Executive team.

2)

The risk register process, which is bottom-up and includes risks identified and
reported by all levels of staff across the CCG and within its partnerships and
collaborations. All significant risks are included on the corporate risk register, which
is reported to the board. Less significant risks are managed as part of ‘business as
usual’ activity within directorate, programme and project risk registers but
escalated to the corporate risk register as necessary.
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The CCG engages with its internal auditors and local counter fraud specialists to
ensure that it has an awareness of risks identified elsewhere and to take steps to
prevent and deter adverse incidents that might impact on it. Internal audit advice and
support has also been sought in relation to specific aspects of CCG work, including
procurement processes and joint arrangements with ICS partners. Equally, the CCG
has a strong track record working with health and social care system partners in west
Hertfordshire and is able to share risks and management of them where this is
appropriate, including taking account of the outcome of providers’ clinical audits.
HVCCG recognises that risk management is not about risk elimination; it is about
encouraging appropriate risk-taking, i.e. ensuring that sufficient and appropriate
information about risks encountered is available and properly analysed. Redesigning
pathways of care to secure the best possible services for our community requires a
high degree of innovation, transformation and risk-taking. In order to succeed in this,
we recognise the need to determine our risk appetite across all areas of our
organization and to apply this to all decisions about risk and opportunities in the
pursuit of the HVCCG’s objectives. HVCCG’s risk appetite may be described as
‘Seek’, using the Good Governance Institute ‘Risk Appetite for NHS Organisations’
matrix https://www.good-governance.org.uk/services/risk-appetite-for-nhsorganisations-a-matrix-to-support-better-risk-sensitivity-in-decision-taking/. That is,
HVCCG is “Eager to be innovative and to choose options offering potentially higher
business rewards (despite greater inherent risk)”, reflecting the large amount of
transformation underway and gathering pace in the Hertfordshire and West Essex
health and care system.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The CCG executive is assigned overall responsibility for the CCG’s strategic
objectives:
We will work with partners and local people to bring about real, sustainable change,
in order to achieve:




Reduction in health inequalities
Better health: preventing ill-health and supporting people to stay well
Joined-up, good quality, and safe services that patients can access and receive
in the most appropriate place.

The executive is responsible for endorsing the CCG’s system of internal control and
ensuring that there is effective management of risk.
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Control mechanisms
There are different levels of risk governance in the CCG:


Board



Audit committee



Quality and Performance committee



Finance committee



Primary care commissioning committee



Public and patient involvement committee



Commissioning Executive committee



HVCCG Executive committee



HVCCG Senior leadership team



Locality committees



Programme and project groups

The board is accountable for ensuring that the CCG has an effective programme for
managing all types of risk and reviews risks to the strategic objectives of the CCG. It
receives details of all new high-level risk exposures at each formal meeting in public
and reviews the board assurance framework and corporate risk register at least
quarterly.
The CCG executive directors own all risks on the board assurance framework and
the corporate risk register with the lead on management being undertaken by the
Senior Leadership Team (SLT). Monthly reviews of all strategic and significant risks
are undertaken with individual members of the senior leadership team and the
executive team. Risk reports are reviewed collectively by the executive team before
submission to the board and its committees to ensure that timely and accurate
information is shared assessing risks to compliance with the clinical commissioning
group’s statutory obligations.

In order to verify that risks are being managed appropriately and that the CCG
can deliver its objectives, the board receives and considers written reports from
the audit committee and the executive. Every report to board and committees
includes a front sheet that requires the author to set out any strategic or
significant risks that are relevant to the subject matter and identify the
appropriate level of assurance that the board can take in relation to each risk.
Committees of the board receive more detailed reports concerning the risks in
their sphere of responsibility, and provide assurance to the board about the
controls in place and progress on action plans to mitigate these risks.
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Staff are trained or equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their
authority and duties. The integrated governance protocol sets out the ways in
which reports to the board and committees routinely focus on the
management of risk and robust training in the appropriate governance
practices to adopt is included in the CCG’s induction training. Team
workshops and individual training and support are also delivered
according to need.

Risk assessment

HVCCG Strategic Objectives and Strategic Risks in 2020-21.
At the beginning of 2020-21, the strategic objectives and most of the strategic risks
from 2019-20 were taken forward. However, as the year progressed, the board
reviewed and updated its strategic objectives and risks in the light of those of its key
partners and the impact of the pandemic.
The former and current strategic objectives are set out below.
April to September 2020








Effective Engagement: We will continually improve engagements with member
practices, patients, the public, carers and our staff to contribute to and influence the
work of Herts Valleys CCG.
Quality: We will commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs of the
population, reducing health inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill health
and stay well.
Transforming Delivery: We will work with health and social care partners to transform
the delivery of care through the implementation of “Your Care, Your Future”, the
Strategic Review in west Hertfordshire and its fit with the wider Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP) strategy, “A Healthier Future”.
Affordable and Sustainable Care: We will ensure that we fulfill our statutory duty to
deliver a financially sustainable and affordable healthcare system in west
Hertfordshire.
October 2020 to March 2021
We will work with partners and local people to bring about real, sustainable change,
in order to achieve:



Reduction in health inequalities



Better health: preventing ill-health and supporting people to stay well



Joined-up, good quality, and safe services that patients can access and receive in
the most appropriate place.
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The Board Assurance Framework was subsequently reviewed.
The HVCCG board normally receives quarterly reports on the assessment,
management and monitoring of its strategic risks, with these being published on the
HVCCG website with board papers: https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/documents/board-papers In Quarter 4 of 2020/21 the normal arrangements for
board meetings were disrupted, due to extraordinary operational pressures in the
second wave of the pandemic. However, the Audit Committee monitored updates
and amendments to the Board Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register.
The table below shows all risks that were identified and monitored during 2020-21,
noting where any of these were closed mid-year and the current assurance
summary.

Ref

BAF risk description and
score

Assurance summary

1

Risk that we do not engage
effectively with a range of
our patients, population and
stakeholders.

Part of ICS winter and COVID
communications, planning and activity;
worked with Hertfordshire Local Resilience
Forum colleagues to urge people to support
Tier 4 restrictions.
Organised regular virtual meetings for our
Patient and Public Involvement Committee
and Practice Participation Group network to
keep them informed.
Continued to work with the WHHT team on
patient and public engagement on the
Outline Business Case or hospital
redevelopment.
Rated green in the Patient and Community
Engagement Indicator 2019/20 Assessment.
Supported engagement with the Think 111
First programme, allowing for the direct
booking of patients into emergency care
appointments.
Incident management of COVID has
introduced even more focused and frequent
engagement with member practices, local
providers and local authorities.
Unprecedented levels of cross-organisational
collaboration to deliver solutions at pace, has
laid firm foundations for new ways of working.
CCG localities teams are the link for all of
general practice to receive national, regional
and local information and calls to action with
frequent bulletins distributed and webinars
taking place.
Weekly Primary Care Commissioning

The current risk score
remained steady at 8
throughout 2020/21.
The initial target score of 8
was reduced to a more
ambitious 4.

2

Risk that member practices,
local providers, local
authorities and other
partners do not respond
constructively to
engagement.
The current risk score
remained at 12 during
2020/21, with an initial in-year
forecast of 8 increased to 12
in Q3.
The target of 8 is now forecast
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to be achieved by October
2021 in line with plans to
develop the Integrated Care
Partnership in shadow form by
this autumn.

3

Risk that we have an
unengaged staff body and
wider clinical workforce.
Current risk score of 8
maintained throughout
2020/21 with a more
ambitious target score of 4
introduced in Q3.

4

5

Risk that we do not deliver
on all NHS Constitutional
pledges, key national
targets and priorities.
Risk that we are unable to
ensure access to good
quality, safe and
sustainable services for the
population and patients of
west Hertfordshire.

Operational Group (PCCOG) attract regular
high attendance.
New pathways/services have been
implemented to support primary care in
managing possible COVID-positive and
shielded patients during the pandemic
recovery phase.
Weekly meetings are held with Primary Care
Network (PCN) project managers leading the
vaccination delivery locally.
Additional assurances have been given to
primary care with letters confirming income
guarantees and support for increased work
pressures.
Continued development of the South and
West Herts Health and Care Partnership will
be key to maintaining ‘organisational
memory’ and ensuring that the legacy of
progress made to date is not lost.
Weekly staff webinars led by the MD
provided both organisational and national
updates and an opportunity to ask questions
while CCG staff worked from home for most
of 2020/21. There are now also monthly
Executive-led webinars for all CCG staff in
the ICS.
Weekly written updates also sent to all staff.
Staff involvement group meetings happened
on a more informal basis during emergency
periods, but have now reinstated.
In Q3 we shared a report by the specialist
consultancy, McKenzie LLP who the CCG
commissioned to carry out some research
with our BAME colleagues in response to last
year's staff survey.
A BAME network has also been established.
This is staff-led with strong support from the
CCG senior management and leadership
teams.
This risk was merged with BAF 5 in Q4. Risks
associated with individual targets and
priorities continue to be monitored on the
corporate and directorate risk registers.
Performance and quality is viewed in
synergy, with the sharing of information and
intelligence, plus assurance from teams and
clinical reviews, including CCG attendance at
internal provider meetings.
Quality reporting has been streamlined and a
minimum data set for all providers has been
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This risk description now
incorporates assurance from
former BAF risk 4.
A current risk score of 12 has
been maintained during
2020/21 with the introduction
of additional mitigations.

6

Risk of lack of adequate
system capability and
interoperability in the
management and security
of information, data and
technology.
COVID has brought additional
IT and cyber security
challenges and risks: extra
mitigations have been
necessary to maintain the
current risk score of 16 during
2020/21.
Once that national MVS has
been implemented it is
forecast that the current risk
score will reduce to 12.

7

Risk that the CCG lacks the
capacity and capability to
manage business as usual
and additional
requirements.

agreed, but the contracting round for 2020/21
was suspended in order to focus system
efforts on the response to COVID19.
Technology has been important in moving
forward on quality monitoring processes and
this work has continued throughout the
pandemic, for example, with the
establishment of remote 'Quality Assurance
Visits' (QAVs).
Performance on Serious Incidents has
improved significantly over the last few
months.
HVCCG have been working with all providers
to ensure recovery is safe, with a quality
checklist completed by all of our community
providers.
HVCCG is working with WHHT to ensure
there is appropriate clinical prioritisation to
minimise harm.
Close working with our IM&T provider
HBLICT has been focused on maintaining
cyber and data security while remote-working
and sustaining the level of connectivity that is
required by CCG staff.
NHS Digital has been working nationally to
keep the technology infrastructure stable and
secure and
all partners have done significant work
around digital, including virtual consultations,
information sharing and remote monitoring.
WHHT work to move to a new IT provider is
completed. WHHT are making significant
progress towards deploying a digital
Electronic Patient Record (EPR).
Incident management of COVID has led to an
acceleration of digitalisation that will be a
positive foundation for transformation work.
ICS plans for deployment to meet national
Minimum Viable Solution (MVS) for Shared
Care Records agreed in January, mandated
by September 2021.
ICS Director for Digital Strategy appointed.
This risk was closed on the BAF in Q3 and
continues to be monitored on individual
directorate risk registers.
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8

Risk that we do not comply
with the General Data
Protection Regulation
(GDPR)
This risk is assessed against
national requirements in the
Data Security Protection
Toolkit (DSPT) that the CCG
submits every year.
A current risk score has been
maintained at 12 during
2020/21: submission of the
toolkit has been delayed
nationally to June 2021 at
which time it is forecast that
the target of 4 will be
achieved.

9

Risk of negative impact of
the COVID pandemic on
system resilience across
west Hertfordshire
The unprecedented pressures
on the healthcare system
during COVID have
necessitated ongoing efforts
to maintain a current risk
score of 16. There are a
number of measures in place
to ensure the minimisation of
harm and monitor patient
wellbeing and these are
continuously monitored.
Due to both continued
operational pressures and the
reduction in provider capacity
due to infection prevention
and control measures, it is not
currently possible to forecast

Mandatory training for all CCG staff on the
practical aspects of GDPR compliance.
Progress against the DSPT action plan has
been monitored quarterly by the Audit
Committee.
A baseline assessment was submitted in
February 2021 with final submission due by
30 June 2021.
An internal audit of self-assessment against
the toolkit took place in March 2021 with
outcome due in June 2021.
Cyber security training delivered to directors
and Board members.
Frequent information shared with staff via
briefings and email reminders and warnings.
All data incidents continue to be investigated
internally and appropriate actions
undertaken. No reportable incidents in
2020/21.
Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIAs)
are completed for all new processes and
systems. This has included remote
arrangements for the 2019/20 and 2020/21
external audit of HVCCG.
Data being processed under a Control of
Patient Information (COPI) notice to support
shielding patients.
System reslience has been challenged during
the pandemic and multiple measures have
been put in place by the CCG and providers
to mitigate the impacts on system resilience.
Incident Management structures were
established with daily senior meetings to
ensure we can support across the ICS and
provide mutual aid where possible. Weekly
PCCOG calls remain in place to keep primary
care updated.
The system has continued to support
increasing capacity, for example: opening
surge beds; developing pathways to support
discharge; providing GP support to rapid
response; ensuring maximum use of
independent sector provision to continue
urgent planned care and cancer treatments
as safely as possible and in a timely way.
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a date for achievement of the
target score.
10

Risk of negative impact of
COVID pandemic on CCG
staff health and wellbeing.

This risk has been closed on the BAF, but it
continues to be monitored on the corporate
risk register.

The current risk score was
reduced from 16 to 12 in
February 2021.
11a

11b

Risk that the joint
submission to obtain
additional capital resource
to successfully transform
the delivery of care in west
Hertfordshire is
unsuccessful.
Risk that there will be
insufficient capacity for GP
practices, primary care
networks and federations to
deliver the transformation of
care in west Hertfordshire.
The current risk score of 12
was increased to 16 between
November 2020 and February
2021 as a reflection of the
extraordinary pressures on
primary care and additional
work being added with the
COVID vaccination
programme.
The current risk score
resolved to 12 by March 2021,
taking into account additional
mitigations put in place.

This risk was closed on the BAF in
September 2020 once the decision on the
submission had been received.

Established principles and enhanced services
developed to manage patients in the COVID
crisis continue: care virtualised where
possible;
integrated working on hospital discharge;
MDT support to care homes; prioritising
patients most in need of care and treatment;
minimising harm caused by delays in care
and treatment; new pathways and services
ensure appropriate clinical advice and
support is available.
The CCG has also agreed to continue to
support practices in prioritising patients in line
with the national and regional guidance.
The CCG is developing metrics in which
practices can report an OPEL status as part
of the wider system reporting and improve
understanding of pressure points for general
practice.
The CCG has redeployed staff to vaccination
sites to support administrative and
operational tasks and continues to support
practices with IT infrastructure.
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12

Risk that workforce issues
prevent us from
transforming the delivery of
care across the local health
and social care system.
It has been assessed that
workforce is one of the
biggest risks and challenges
to the healthcare system for
the delivery of transformation
plans.
The current risk score has
remained at 16 throughout
2020/21. As productivity is
challenged due to the need for
social distancing, use of PPE,
etc, the target is not expected
to be achieved until end of
2021/22.

13

Risk that our plans do not
focus on prevention of ill
health and reduction of
health inequalities.
The current risk score has
been maintained at 8
throughout 2020/21 with
additional mitigations put in
place in response to new
health inequalities exposed by
the pandemic.
The target risk score of 4 is
now forecast to be achieved
by December 2021 to take
account of delays to
transformation initiatives in the
context of COVID incident
management.

An updated integrated People Plan has been
developed and was submitted to NHSE/I in
September 2020.
Hertfordshire and West Essex-wide (HWE)
workforce modelling is progressing, looking
at system requirements for new ways of
working, drawing on new examples during
the pandemic.
A HWE People Board was established to
ensure that the People Plan is delivered in
collaboration with all of our partners,
including County Councils and voluntary and
community sector (VCS).
Organisation development programme for
PCNs delayed by COVID but now underway.
Workforce recruitment and retention was
identified as a priority work stream during the
pandemic.
Local People Board and ICS work on system
workforce strategy and alignment with the
NHS Long Term Plan was paused as
resources were diverted to focus on incident
management of COVID. It is reasonable to
assume that there will be a delivery delay of
at least six months.
Work on development of new place-based
care models to deliver against the NHS Long
Term Plan was paused in early 2020 due to
COVID19. Delivery of locality transformation
plans will be resumed once the emergency
period has ended and the closer partnership
working that has been necessitated by the
incident will lay firm foundations for
development.
Recovery work is targeted to identify and
support those patients most in need of care
and treatment.
Initiatives to be taken forward once more
when the emergency period has ended
include: further business intelligence (BI)
support for primary care risk stratification and
development of PCNs; the Local Delivery
Plan programme; Enhanced Effective
Resource Management, the new Enhanced
Commissioning Framework and the frailty
programme.
The CCG are also working on developing
pathways to help earlier identification of
conditions which can then support
prevention. Targeted support is also being
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14

Risk that we do not deliver a
financially sustainable
integrated healthcare
system in collaboration with
our partners in the ICS.
The current risk score has
remained at 20 throughout
2020/21 and a forecast
reduction to 15 was not
achieved by year end.

15

Risk that we do not achieve
financial balance in 2020/21
A current risk score of 12 was
maintained during 2020/21
with the target of 4 achieved
at year end.

offered groups identified as needing
supported access and services.
The CCG submitted its financial plans for
month 7 to 12, 2020/21 and these were
reflected in the wider ICS system plan.
System allocations and envelopes, for
'business as usual', COVID response and
recovery were issues.
All organisations' financial plans were fed into
the overall plan for the system. Updates on
financial plans and budgets were reported to
the CCG Board and Finance Committee,
together with financial performance.
2020/21 finances were conducted under a
revised framework due to the pandemic.
The agreed system plans for months 7-12 of
2020/21 were submitted to NHSE on 5
October 2020 and the CCG’s expenditure
against its plan was reported to board each
month. The system allocation included an
allocation for specific COVID expenditure.
The key risk to achieving financial balance as
a system during 2020/21 was cost impacts of
COVID, either directly or indirectly: these
were monitored against the COVID system
allocation with mitigating actions agreed
across the ICS and reported to individual
boards.
The CCG has reported an unaudited outturn
of financial balance (small surplus of £79k)
for 2020/21 and draft Accounts were filed on
23rd April 2021.

The board is accountable for ensuring that the CCG has an effective programme for
managing all types of risk and reviews risks to the strategic objectives of the CCG. It
receives details of all new high-level risk exposures at each formal meeting and reviews
the board assurance framework and corporate risk register. The CCG executive directors
own all risks on the board assurance framework and the corporate risk register. Monthly
reviews of all strategic and significant risks are undertaken with individual members of the
senior leadership team and the executive team. Risk reports are reviewed collectively by
the executive team before submission to the board and its committees to ensure that
timely and accurate information is shared assessing risks to compliance with the
clinical commissioning group’s statutory obligations.
In order to verify that risks are being managed appropriately, and that the CCG can
deliver its objectives, the board receives and considers written reports from the audit
committee, committees of the board and the executive. Every report to board and

Page 79

committees include a front sheet that requires the author to set out any strategic or
significant risks that are relevant to the subject matter and identify the appropriate level of
assurance that the board can take in relation to each risk. Committees of the board have
received more detailed reports concerning the risks in their sphere of responsibility, and
provide assurance to the board about the controls in place and progress on action plans
to mitigate these risks.
Internal audit undertook a review of risk management and assurance in September 2020
and concluded that:
“Taking account of the issues identified, the board can take substantial assurance
that the controls upon which the organisation relies to manage this risk are
suitably designed, consistently applied and effective.”

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
The audit committee has oversight of the internal control mechanisms on behalf of
the board. Executive directors and the executive committee oversee the
management and delivery of internal mechanisms. The audit committee bases its
assessments, and therefore assurances, on the effectiveness of the CCG’s controls:
Assurances provided by the board and committees’ work programmes;
Reviews of CCG policies and procedures (e.g. annual review of detailed financial
policies);
Provision of assurance from independent sources (e.g. internal audit or third party
reviews undertaken).

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs
(published June 2017) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS
England has published a template audit framework.
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RSM carried out their independent annual internal audit of conflicts of interests on
behalf of the CCG in August 2020 which concluded that: “Taking account of the
issues identified, the Board can take reasonable assurance that the controls in place
to manage this risk are suitably designed and consistently applied.”

Data Quality
Good information is essential for the commissioning of appropriate services. The
CCG’s Business Information and Performance team provide key metrics to all
committees and to CCG directors and their staff to enable discharge of their
respective functions. Collaboration agreements are in place between the CCG, East
and North Hertfordshire CCG, Hertfordshire County Council, local NHS providers,
Arden and GEM Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) and commercial partners to
allow the necessary data flows.
The board considers the quality of data it receives to be acceptable.

Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively. In 2020-21 the CCG met all the mandatory requirements.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.
We have established an information governance management framework and are
developing / have developed information governance processes and procedures in
line with the information governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake
annual information governance training and have implemented a staff information
governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance
roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents. We have developed data protection information risk assessment (DPIA)
and management procedures, and a programme has been established to embed an
information risk awareness culture throughout the organisation.
The advisory internal audit of the CCG’s information governance (IG) toolkit took
place in April 2021. All recommended actions will be completed for the final toolkit
submission in June 2021.
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Cyber Risks
Herts Valleys CCG identifies, controls and manages cyber security risk as one of six
partners who have established a partnership for IT services, known as Herts, Beds &
Luton ICT Business Services (HBLICT). Services provided include Business
Continuity, Disaster Recovery, Major Incident Management, Governance and
Compliance. The Leadership Team of HBLICT includes a person with specific
responsibility for Governance, Risk and Compliance. Either the Chief Finance Officer,
as SIRO, or a CCG senior manager, routinely attends the Partnership Board, which
receives reports and updates on the activities of HBLICT with regard to cyber security.
The follow up on these reports is managed through the Partnership Board. Information
from NHSD highlighted that the number of attempted cyber-attacks on IT systems
and infrastructure has risen during the COVID-19 crisis. Additionally, staffs are
remote working, working under extreme pressure and dealing with more emails than
usual, all of which increases the risk of a cyber-attack being successful. The CCG
and our IT provider are taking appropriate measures to ensure any risks are
mitigated. There are constant reminders to all staff around email phishing and other
malicious email campaigns.
Staff are aware of relevant policies to ensure they understand the data security risks
and treat data and security appropriately whilst working from home. Our IT provider
ensures that all firewalls are secure and that all cyber systems are maintained with
current updates.

Business Critical Models
The CCG can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment continued to
be in place during 2020-21 to provide quality assurance of business critical models.
There are several aspects of the 2013 MacPherson review which are of relevance to
the CCG to increase the robustness of the modelling work we undertake as well as
providing assurance to the relevant committee and board of the level of confidence
which can be taken from the modelling estimates. The recommendation from the
MacPherson report highlight several of these and they have been adapted for CCG
use:


All models have appropriate quality assurance of their inputs, methodology and
outputs in the context of the risks their use represents.



All models are managed within a framework that ensures that appropriately
specialist staff are responsible for developing and using the models as well as
quality assurance.



There is a single Senior Responsible Owner (SRO) for each model through its
lifecycle and clarify from the outset on how quality assurance (QA) is to be
managed. Business cases using results from models summarise what QA
processes have been undertaken, including the extent of expert scrutiny and
challenge. They also confirm if the SRO is content that the QA process is
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compliant and appropriate with any model limitations, risks, and the major
assumptions are understood and applied in generating in generating the model
outputs. This includes end-users of any model prepared.


The CCG has continued to build the right environment for QA during 2020-21
addressing the issues of culture, capacity and capability, and control, including
the development of standardised processes. A new data provider, Arden and
GEM CSU, was appointed from December 2019, with all requirements necessary
to ensure quality assurance of business critical models included in their Service
Level Agreement (SLA) with the CCG.

The CCG uses activity models that are based on official Government produced
information; for example, population demographics, provided by the Office for
National Statistics (ONS). As a nationally recognised body, it is assumed that the
ONS will have undertaken quality assurance processes about the construction of
these models.
The CCG currently uses a risk stratification model: HVCCG is included in the list of
risk stratification approved organisations
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/list-of-risk-stratification-approvedorganisations/
is made available through GEMIMA. This model is used to identify a discrete group
of patients at risk of being admitted to the hospital as an emergency, who may be
better looked after through local community or primary care services. The CCG has
developed a model to calculate the elderly frailty index (EFI) using primary care data.
The organisation does not use any other sophisticated models beyond those
described above, but is currently undertaking further analysis to develop new risk
stratification models using the wider range of data that is now available through the
data integration and pseudonymisation at source project.

Third party assurances
Nationally Outsourced Services
The CCG receives some administrative services from nationally commissioned
organisations and in 2020/21 also received Service Auditor Reports on these
services, which it reviews:
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Finance and accounting services provided by NHS Business Services
Authority
GP payments to providers of General Practice services in England provided by
NHS Digital
Electronic Staff Record system provided by NHS Business Services
Authority and IBM UK Ltd
Prescription payments provided by NHS Business Services Authority (BSA)
Primary Care Support England services for processing GP and Pharmacy
payments and pensions administration provided by Capita

The audit report on Finance and Accounting services identified an exception in
relation to the operating effectiveness of controls relating to the authorisation of
manual credits. For one out of 25 samples a credit request was actioned by SBS
when the client did not have the appropriate approval limit. Management responded
that process and control training has been provided to all users to prevent a
recurrence of this error. As a result of this the auditor therefore qualified their opinion
of the overall effectiveness of the service providers controls during 2020/21.
The audit report on GP payments to providers of General Practice services in
England recorded exceptions as follows. Capita stated:
‘- that they have controls in place to reconcile the physical count of cheques received
against the number stated in the list received from Capita Intelligent Ophthalmic
payments, validate cheques received with Locum forms and Market entry, and
perform independent quality checks to ensure the physical count of cheques was
performed accurately, however during the period 1 April 2020-17 January 2021
these controls were not in place due to restrictions relating to the COVID-19
pandemic.
‘-that they have controls in place to restrict local administrator access to the
Ophthalmic Payments System to authorised personnel from the IT access control
team and the Ophthalmic Payments Team. Capita were not able to provide the full
list of users with such access and were therefore unable to demonstrate that the
control was operating effectively.
‘- that there are controls in place to ensure that instances when an account should
be revoked in the active directory (AD), UNIX, NHAIS, or Ophthalmic Payments
systems are actioned in a timely manner in accordance with the access control
policy. During the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, the above mentioned
revocations could not be evidenced in all instances for any of the above mentioned
systems.
‘- that leavers Active Directory (AD) accounts are disabled 24 hours from notification,
for 2 out of 40 leavers selected it was noted that AD had not been revoked within 24
hours of notification. For 22 out of 40 leavers the AD account had been revoked
within 24 hours of notification, however late notification led to access being revoked
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more than 24 hours after termination date.
As a result of this, the auditor therefore qualified their opinion on the overall
effectiveness of the service providers controls during 2020/21.

The audit report on Electronic staff records (ESR) recorded exceptions as follows:
For the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, exceptions were identified in
relation to the controls intended to enforce segregation of duties for changes to the
NHS Hub, and ensure that unauthorised changes to the NHS Hub are detected and
investigated. As a result, controls were not suitably designed to achieve Control
Objective 1 (“Controls provide reasonable assurance that changes to the system
software, hardware, and network components are documented and approved.")
during this period.
Further, for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, exceptions were
identified in relation to the suitability of the design of controls intended to ensure that
access to the development and production areas of the NHS hub is controlled and
appropriately restricted. There were insufficient logical access controls in place to
appropriately restrict access to the development and production area of the NHS
hub. As a result, controls were not suitably designed to achieve Control Objective 2
("Controls provide reasonable assurance that security configurations are created,
implemented and maintained to prevent inappropriate access”) during this period.
As a result of this, the auditor therefore qualified their opinion on the overall
effectiveness of the service providers controls during 2020/21

The audit report on Prescription payments by BSA recorded exceptions as follows,
BSA stated:
'- Controls are in place to provide reasonable assurance that payments are made to
the correct, valid contractors. However, controls surrounding requests to set up new
contractors or amend contractor details in MDR(Org) having valid approval were not
operating effectively.
'-Controls are in place to provide reasonable assurance that payments are ac curate
and complete. However, controls surrounding the completeness of prescriptions
scanned against prescriptions declared by pharmacies, were not suitably designed.
'-Controls are in place to provide reasonable assurance that access to systems is
appropriately restricted. However, controls surrounding the periodic access review of
Database Administrator users were not suitably designed.
As a result of this, the auditor therefore qualified their opinion on the overall
effectiveness of the service providers controls during 2020/21.
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These Service Auditor Reports and the gaps in assurance were provided to the
CCG’s External Auditor, but did not impact on their risk assessment or audit
approach.

Control Issues
The CCG has had no significant control issues in 2020-21.

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of
resources
The effectiveness of the use of resources and financial performance of the CCG is
monitored on a monthly basis by the board as well as every two months by its
finance and performance committees. Both the finance and the performance
committee are chaired by a lay member of the board.
Significant elements of the finance committee’s remit are to: financial plans; monitor inyear performance against those plans; and monitor contract performance. Financial
monitoring will include ensuring that the CCG does not exceed its running
(management) costs allocation. The CCG regularly conducts benchmarking of its activity
in order to identify areas for improvement and potential efficiencies. Corporate risks in
respect of financial performance and the use of resources are captured in the board
assurance framework, corporate risk register and directorate level risk registers. The
highest level risks are reported to the audit committee and board of the CCG. The audit
committee is accountable to the board and its remit is to provide the board with an
independent and objective view of the group’s systems, information and compliance
with laws, regulations and directions governing the group. It delivers this remit in the
context of the group’s priorities and the risks associated with achieving them. In
accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit is
required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to a risk-based plan of
work agreed with management and approved by the audit committee, on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s risk management, control and governance
processes. The opinion contributes to the annual governance statement.
The latest ratings for quality of leadership in the CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework in 2019-20 were good. In 2020-21 CCGs will be assessed
under the new NHS Oversight Framework, but HVCCG’s assessment is not
expected until end of June 2021.
The CCG’s external auditors, BDO, confirmed in their audit completion report that
their findings and recommendations in respect of the CCG’s value for money
arrangements will be reported in their Auditor’s Annual Report in September 2021.
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Delegation of functions
The functions of the CCG have not been delegated through any delegated authority
agreement. The CCG has retained control of its functions.
Counter fraud arrangements
Counter fraud arrangements are in place for the CCG in line with the NHS Counter
Fraud Authority Standards for NHS Commissioners 2020/21: Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption.
These can be viewed at this link
https://cfa.nhs.uk/resources/downloads/standards/NHS_Fraud_Standards_for_Com
missioners_2020_v1.2.pdf

We have a responsibility to ensure that NHS resources are protected from fraud,
bribery or corruption, which could impact on our ability to commission services
and treatment, as NHS funds are wrongfully diverted from patient care. We
adhere to the key standards that the NHS Fraud Authority has set out for
commissioners:
The fraud, bribery and corruption standards are set out in detail in the
document under four key principles:
1: Strategic Governance. The aim is to ensure that counter fraud measures are
embedded at all levels across the organisation, including a mechanism for
continuous quality improvement in line with the NHSCFA’s strategy.
2: Inform and Involve. Requirements in relation to raising awareness of crime risks
against the NHS and working with NHS staff, stakeholders and the public to highlight
the risks and consequences of fraud and bribery affecting the NHS.
3: Prevent and Deter. Requirements in relation to discouraging individuals who
may be tempted to commit fraud against the NHS and ensuring that opportunities
for fraud to occur are minimised.
4: Hold to Account. The substance of this principle corresponds to the
Investigate, sanction and redress principle in the NHSCFA’s strategy. This section
sets out the requirements in relation to detecting and investigating economic
crime, obtaining sanctions and seeking redress.
The following arrangements are in place:

 An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is contracted to undertake counter fraud
work proportionate to identified risks. The CCG contracts RSM to provide the
counter fraud provision by way of a nominated lead local counter fraud specialist
(LCFS). The LCFS is accredited by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority and
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qualified to undertake the duties of that role.

 The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against each of the Standards for
Commissioners at least annually. There is executive support and direction for a
proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks.

 An executive member of the board is proactively and demonstrably responsible
for tackling fraud, bribery, and corruption. This responsibility has been assigned
to the Chief Finance Officer.

 Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Protect quality assurance
recommendations.


The audit committee provides lay member responsibility for the oversight of anti- fraud,
corruption and bribery work. The committee receives the reports from the Accredited
Counter Fraud Specialist on the work undertaken. Additionally, the committee receives
an annual local counter fraud services report, which highlights key activities during the
year and performance against agreed KPIs. Appropriate action is taken regarding any
NHS Local Counter Fraud quality assurance recommendations.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.

For the 12 months ended 31 March 2021 the Head of Internal Audit for Herts Valleys
Clinical Commissioning Group concluded that:
The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management,
governance and internal control.
However, our work has identified further enhancements to the framework of risk
management, governance and internal control to ensure that it remains adequate
and effective.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Risk Management and Board
Assurance Framework

Substantial Assurance

Provider Quality Assurance

Reasonable Assurance

Conflicts of Interest

Reasonable Assurance

Financial Governance Part 1

Advisory

Financial Governance Part 2

Advisory

Primary Care Networks

Reasonable Assurance

Budget Management

Reasonable Assurance

Primary Care Delegated Commissioning Substantial Assurance
Community Provider Quality Assurance

Reasonable Assurance

Data Protection and Security Toolkit

Advisory
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There have not been any “no assurance” or “partial” opinion reports in 2020-21 to
date. In the audits shown as providing “reasonable” and “substantial” assurance
RSM have identified some areas where enhancements are required and in each of
these cases management actions have been agreed, the implementation of which
will improve the control environment.
Explanation of levels of assurance:

During 2021, we followed up a total of 44 actions as they became due (one High, 26
Medium and 17 Low). At the time of writing this opinion, 37 actions had been
implemented 21 (Medium), and 16 (Low), two Medium actions were in progress,
three actions were not due (two Medium and one Low) and two actions (one high
and one medium) had been superseded. Based on the work RSM have undertaken
to date on the CCG’s system on internal control, RSM reported that they do not
consider that within these areas there are any issues that need to be flagged as
significant control issues within the Annual Governance Statement (AGS).
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk
management and internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available
to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in
their annual audit letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its
principles objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:
 The board
 The audit committee
 The quality and performance committee
 Internal audit
 External audit

Conclusion
As Accountable Officer, and based on the review processes outlined above, I can
confirm that the Governance Statement is a balanced reflection of the actual controls
position and there are no significant internal control issues identified for the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
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Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report
Elements of this report are subject to audit by the CCG’s external auditors. These
elements have been annotated as such. Other information and tables are not
required to be audited.

Remuneration Committee
Please see the integrated governance protocol for details of the remuneration
committee.

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Remuneration Committee used the
remuneration guidance provided by NHS England to inform its decisions regarding
the pay of all very senior managers. We can confirm that the pay of all our very
senior managers is within the pay ranges identified in the guidance and that the
remuneration of senior managers is determined by national terms and conditions –
Very Senior Managers Pay Framework, which includes an appropriate notice period.
There is no provision in the contracts for termination payments save for any
contractual entitlements to redundancy compensation, which would be calculated
under the agreed NHS formula.
The CCG does not operate a Performance Related Pay policy for senior managers
or any of our staff. The Remuneration Committee reviewed and agreed in 2014-15
proposals for introducing non-financial recognition for high achieving performance in
the form of access to external training and development opportunities.
The pay rates for staff, including senior managers, are also assessed against the
rates that other commissioning groups and local NHS bodies offer for similar roles.
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
The Accountable Officer of the CCG is paid a salary in excess of £150,000 per
annum for the joint post of Accountable Officer of Hertfordshire and West Essex
CCGs and ICS and is a shared arrangement between East & North Hertfordshire,
Herts Valleys and West Essex CCGs and the ICS. This has been approved by NHS
E/I and the national remuneration committee considering senior manager pay and
benchmarking was undertaken with similar sized organisations to ensure that
salaries are competitive and in line with that of similar systems.
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Remuneration of Members of the CCG Board and ICS Executive
HERTS VALLEYS CCG
Remuneration for members of the Board - Salaries and allowances in 2020-21
Table 1:Single total figure (subject to audit)
2020-21

Name

Jane Halpin
David Evans
Alan Pond
Elke Taylor
Diane Curbishley
Jane Kinniburgh
Rachel Joyce
Avni Shah
Lynn Dalton
Francis Shattock
Dr Nicolas Small
Dr Trevor Fernandes
Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway
Dr Corinne Ciobanu
Dr Rami Eliad
Dr Asif Faizy
Dr Catherine Page
Dr Richard Pile
Stuart Bloom
Alison Gardner
Paul Smith
Thelma Stober

Role

Note

Performance
Expense
pay and
Salary (bands payments
bonuses
of £5,000)
(taxable) to
(bands of
nearest £100
£5,000)

£000
Accountable Officer (from 1 June 2020) - 30.56%
1,6,7
40-45
Interim Accountable Officer (to 31 May 2020) /Interim Managing Director (1-30 June 2020)
125-130
Managing Director (from 1 July 2020)
Chief Finance Officer (from 1 August 2020) - 30.56%
1,7
25-30
Acting Chief Finance Officer (to 31 July 2020)
35-40
Director of Nursing & Quality (to 31 July 2020)
2
265-270
Director of Nursing & Quality (from 1 August 2020) - 30.56%
1,6,7
25-30
Director of Clinical & Professional Services (from 1 October 2020) - 30.56% 1,7
20-25
Acting Director of Commissioning (to 30 November 2020)/
1,7
85-90
Director of Primary Care Transformation (from 1 December 2020) - 30.56%
Director of Primary Care (to 18 October 2020)
50-55
Director of Performance & Delivery(from 1 March 2021) - 30.56%
1,7
0-5
GP Director and CCG Chair
3
140-145
GP Director & Deputy Clinical Chair
85-90
GP Director
3
105-110
GP Director
3
100-105
GP Director
85-90
GP Director
3
100-105
GP Director
85-90
GP Director
65-70
Lay Member
4
10-15
Lay Member
4,5
10-15
Lay Member
4
10-15
Lay Member
4
10-15
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Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£
0

£000
0

£000
0

£000
0

£000
40-45

7,300

0

0

30-32.5

160-165

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

12.5-15
15-17.5
17.5-20
0
15-17.5

40-45
50-55
285-290
25-30
35-40

0

0

0

45-47.5

130-135

4,900
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

35-37.5
0-2.5
£NIL
£NIL
£NIL
£NIL
£NIL
£NIL
£NIL
£NIL
0
0
0
0

90-95
0-5
140-145
85-90
105-110
100-105
85-90
100-105
85-90
65-70
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15

Page 94

The table below shows the total remuneration where the Senior Manager was appointed as a Director in more than one of the Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs and ICS and where
a sharing arrangement existed.

Name

Role

Salary
(bands
of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

£000

£000

140-145

0

0

0

0

140-145

Chief Finance Officer (from 1 August 2020)

90-95

0

0

0

45-47.5

135-140

Rachel Joyce

Director of Clinical & Professional Services (from 1 October 2020)

70-75

0

0

0

50-52.5

120-125

Jane Kinniburgh

Director of Nursing & Quality (from 1 August 2020)

80-85

0

0

0

0

80-85

115-120

0

0

0

57.5-60

175-180

10-15

0

0

0

0-2.5

10-15

Jane Halpin

Accountable Officer (from 1 June 2020)

Alan Pond

Avni Shah

Acting Director of Commissioning (to 30 November 2020)/
Director of Primary Care Transformation (from 1 December 2020)

Frances Shattock

Director of Performance & Delivery (from 1 March 2021)
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Table 1: Single total f igure table

HERTS VALLEYS CCG
Remuneration for members of the Board; salaries and allowances in 2019-20
2019-20

Name

Title

Kathryn Magson

Accountable Officer (to 7 January 2020)

David Evans

Director of Commissioning (to 7 January 2020)/
Interim Accountable Officer (from 8 January 2020)
Chief Finance Officer (to 10 October 2019)

Caroline Hall
Elke Taylor
Diane Curbishley
Lynn Dalton
Avni Shah
Dr Nicolas Small
Dr Trevor Fernandes
Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway
Dr Corina Ciobanu
Dr Rami Eliad
Dr Asif Faizy Mohammad
Dr Catherine Page
Dr Richard Pile
Stuart Bloom
Alison Gardner
Paul Smith
Thelma Stober

Acting Chief Finance Officer (from 1 October 2019)
Director of Nursing & Quality
Director of Primary Care
Acting Director of Commissioning (from 8 January
2020)
GP Director and CCG Chair
GP Director and Deputy Clinical Chair
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director (from 1 April 2019)
GP Director
GP Director
Lay Member & CCG Vice Chair
Lay Member
Lay Member
Lay Member

Performance
Expense
pay and
payments
bonuses
(taxable) to
(bands of
nearest £100
£5,000)

Long term
performance pay
and bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

Note

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

£000

£000

1

110-115

300

0

0

27.5-30

140-145

110-115
275-280

8,200
0

0
0

0
0

27.5-30
20-22.5

150-155
295-300

4

55-60
115-120
85-90

0
100
6,200

0
0
0

0
0
0

37.5-40
15-17.5
40-42.5

95-100
135-140
130-135

4

25-30
125-130
85-90
85-90
100-105
80-85
95-100
85-90
65-70
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

5-7.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

30-35
125-130
85-90
85-90
100-105
80-85
95-100
85-90
65-70
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15

2
3

5
5
5
5

6
6,7
6
6
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All pension
related benefits
(bands of £2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

Notes on Salaries and Allowances Table
The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the individual.
The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights.
This value does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an
estimation of the benefit that being a member of the pension scheme could provide.
The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual.
The taxable benefits referred to in the table relate to the re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties, unless included in the notes below.
The benefit arises from the mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business travel.
Herts Valleys CCG pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage allowance payments" rate in 2019-20 of 45p a mile.
The excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above.
The taxable benefits for David Evans and Lynn Dalton relates to their having lease cars with a taxable benefit of £7,100 and £5,800 respectively.
Their disclosures also include a taxable benefit of 45p and 42p per mile respectively, for re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties.
The members have a salary sacrifice arrangement for their vehicles which has the effect of reducing the salary paid during 2019/20.
1. As from 8 January 2020 Kathryn Magson was seconded to the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) and the remuneration shown above relates only to the
CCG role to 7 January 2020.
2. David Evans was appointed Interim Accountable Officer with effect from 8 January 2020 and received a salary of £31,325 in this role for the period January
– March 2020.
The remuneration disclosed above relates to the role of Director of Commissioning from 1 April 2019 to 7 January 2020 and Interim Accountable Officer from 8 January.
3. On 26th September 2019, the Board agreed to create a single Accountable Officer and Executive Team across the 3 CCGs in Hertfordshire and West Essex.
All 3 CCGs’ Boards took this decision on the same day. A consequence of the Boards’ decision was the deletion of the individual CFO roles within each CCG
and the creation of a single joint CFO to work across the 3 CCGs in Hertfordshire and West Essex in 2020/21. Following a request from Caroline Hall, the CFO
to bring her redundancy forward, based on health reasons, an extraordinary Board meeting on 3rd October 2019 agreed that Caroline Hall’s redundancy could
be brought forward to October 2019 without need for formal consultation. A redundancy payment was made to Caroline Hall in line with contractual
entitlements and with the support of the CCG's regulator NHS E/I. The remuneration disclosed consists of £59,630 basic pay for the period in office,
£160,000 in respect of a compulsory redundancy payment, £56,588 for payment in lieu of contractual notice and £1,190 for payment of accrued but untaken
annual leave.
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4. Elke Taylor and Avni Shah were both appointed to the Board in Acting roles with starting dates as indicated in the table above. Prior to this they held the position
of Deputy Chief Finance Officer and Programme Director for Planned and Primary Care respectively in the CCG. The remuneration disclosed in the table relates
to the period they held senior manager roles. The full year equivalent salary for both members in their respective Board roles would be £111,464.
5. Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is
pensionable under the "Practitioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non pensionsable on the payroll and either submit a GP Solo form with
the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority, or pay the employer's contribution directly
to the practice where a HMRC approved pooling arrangement exists. The salary disclosure above comprises of gross pay plus employer pension contribution,
where applicable.
6. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration there will be no entries in respect of pension benefits.
7. Alison Gardner was appointed as a lay Board member at East & North Hertfordshire CCG as from August 2019 and salary costs of £7,801 associated with this role
have been recharged. The remuneration disclosed above relates only to Herts Valleys CCG.

Fair Pay disclosure (audited element of remuneration report)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director/member in the organisation and the median remuneration of the CCG's
workforce, as at the reporting date (31 March 2021).
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in Herts Valleys CCG at the reporting date was £135,000-£140,000 (2019-20: £135,000-£140,000). This was 3.06 times
(2019-20: 3.39) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £44,897 (2019-20: £40,527).
In 2020-21, at the reporting date, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director/member of the CCG's Governing body (2019-20: zero). In 2020-21
remuneration ranged from the highest paid director to £15,360 (2019-20:highest paid director to £11,224).
The main factor for the increase in the median is due to an increase in workforce including managerial posts.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
As a number of Director posts included in the Fair Pay disclosure were shared across the three CCGs and the ICS, for transparency, if the calculations had been based on the total
salary for those directors, the following disclosure would apply.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in Herts Valleys CCG at the reporting date was £170,000-£175,000 (2019-20: £135,000-£140,000). This was 3.84 times
(2019-20: 3.39) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £44,897 (2019-20: £40,527).
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2021
HERTS VALLEYS CCG
Table 2:Pensions Benefits (Subject to Audit)
Real increase in
Real increase in
Total accrued
Lump sum at
Cash Equivalent
pension at pension pension lump sum at
pension at
pension age related Transfer Value at 1
age (bands of
pension age (bands pension age at 31 to accrued pension
April 2020
£2,500)
of £2,500)
March 2021
at 31 March 2021
(bands of £5,000)
(bands of £5,000)

Relating to the period 1 April 2020 to 31st March 2021

Name
Jane Halpin
David Evans

Title
Accountable Officer (from 1 June 2020) - 30.56%
Interim Accountable Officer (to 31 May 2020)/Interim Managing
Dircetor (1-30 June 2020)/

Note

Real increase in
Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value

Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value at 31
March 2021

Employer's
contribution to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£00

1,2

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

3

0-2.5

0

10-15

0

101

13

134

0

1

1,2

0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0

0-2.5
0-2.5
0
0

10-15
40-45
45-50
0

15-20
95-100
135-140
0

195
799
959
0

15
17
29
0

217
880
1,011
0

0
0
0
0

1

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-10

15-20

135

14

155

0

2.5-5

25-30

50-51

349

33

399

0

Managing Director (from 1 July 2020)
Alan Pond
Elke Taylor
Diane Curbishley
Jane Kinniburgh
Rachel Joyce

Chief Finance Officer (from 1 August 2020) - 30.56%
Acting Chief Finance Officer (to 31 July 2020)
Director of Nursing & Quality (to 31 July 2020)
Director of Nursing & Quality (from 1 August 2020) - 30.56%
Director of Clinical & Professional Services (from 1 October
2020) - 30.56%

Avni Shah

Acting Director of Commissioning (to 30 November 2020)/
1

2.5-5

Frances Shattock

Director of Primary Care Transformation (from 1 December 2020)
- 30.56%
Director of Performance & Delivery (from 1 March 2021) 30.56%

1

0-2.5

0

0-5

0

0

0

1

0

Lynn Dalton
Dr Nicolas Small
Dr Trevor Fernandes
Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway
Dr Corinne Ciobanu
Dr Rami Eliad
Dr Asif Faizy
Dr Catherine Page
Dr Richard Pile

Director of Primary Care (to 18 October 2020)
GP Director and CCG Chair
GP Director & Deputy Clinical Chair
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director

4

0-2.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

5-7.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

25-30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

75-80
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Stuart Bloom
Alison Gardner
Paul Smith
Thelma Stober

Lay Member
Lay Member
Lay Member
Lay Member

6

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

5

5
5

5

6
6
6
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Notes
Note 1 - Where members have been appointed to the Hertfordshire and West Essex Joint Executive Team (JET), the disclosures above only relate to the CCG's proportion of pension benefits
based on 30.56% from the date of their appointment. For transparency the table below shows members total pension benefits across Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs and ICS.
Note 2 - Jane Halpin and Jane Kinniburgh are not members of the NHS pension scheme.
Note 3- As a member of the 2015 scheme benefits do not include lump sum payments.
Note 4 - CETV calculation is not applicable as the member is over the NRA in the existing scheme.
Note 5 - Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under the
"Practioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non-pensionsable on the payroll and for GPs who are members of the Practitioner scheme, submit an annual GP Solo form to the
NHS Pension Authority to include the employer's pension contributionof 14.3% plus 0.08% administration levy. Alternatively, if the GP has a pooling arrangement in place as agreed with HMRC,
the employer's pension contribution is paid directly to the practice.
Note 6 - As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members.
Note 7 - Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particularly point in time.
The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their
former scheme.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their membership of the pension scheme and may relate to a period more than their
service in a senior capacity and to which the disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Note 8 - The real Increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer.
It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).
Note 9 - The method used to calculate CETVs changed, to remove the adjustment for Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019. If the individual was entitled to GMP, this will affect the calculation of the real
increase in CETV. This is more likely to affect the 1995 Section and the 2008 Section. The benefits and CETV do not currently allow for a future potential adjustment for the McCloud judgement.
The table below shows the member's total pension benefits for the full year where the Senior Manager was appointed as a Director in more than one of the Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs and ICS and where a sharing
arrangement existed.

Name

Jane Halpin
Alan Pond
Rachel Joyce
Jane Kinniburgh
Avni Shah
Frances Shattock

Role

Real increase
in pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Accountable Officer (from 1 June 2020)
Chief Finance Officer (from 1 August 2020)
Director of Clinical & Professional Services (from 1 October 2020)
Director of Nursing & Quality (from 1 August 2020)
Acting Director of Commissioning (to 30 November 2020)/
Director of Primary Care Transformation (from 1 December 2020)
Director of Performance & Delivery (from 1 March 2021)

Real increase in
Total accrued
pension lump
pension at
sum at pension pension age at 31
age (bands of
March 2021
£2,500)
(bands of £5,000)

0
2.5-5

0
0-2.5

0
65-70

2.5-5

0-2.5

45-50

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at 31
March0 2021

Cash Equivalent Real increase in
Cash
Transfer Value at Cash Equivalent
Equivalent
1 April 2020
Transfer Value Transfer Value
at 31 March
2021

90-95

0
959

0
48

0
1068

110-115

884

46

Employer's
contribution to
stakeholder
pension

1013

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2.5-5

2.5-5

30-35

65-70

453

42

519

0

0-2.5

0

0-5

0

0

1

2

0

Payments to past members (subject to audit)
There were no payments made in 2020-21 to any individual who had previously been a director of the CCG.

Dated: 14 June 2021

Signed:

0
0

Alan Pond, Chief Finance Officer
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Notes
1. As members of the 2015 scheme benefits do not include lump sum payments.

2. The disclosures for the real increase in pension and CETV have been adjusted to reflect that Kathryn Magson held the post of Accountable Officer to
7 January 2020.
3.

CETV calculation is not applicable as the member is over the NRA in the existing scheme.
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4. Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is
pensionable under the "Practioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non-pensionsable on the payroll and for GPs who are members of the
Practitioner scheme, submit an annual GP Solo form to the NHS Pension Authority to include the employer's pension contributionof 14.3% plus 0.08%
administration levy. Alternatively, if the GP has a pooling arrangement in place as agreed with HMRC, the employer's pension contribution is paid directly to
the practice.
5. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members.
6. Alison Gardner was also a Lay Member of East & North Hertfordshire CCG Board from August 2019.
7. Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.

The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.
8. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the
member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their membership of the pension scheme and may
relate to a period more than their service in a senior capacity and to which the disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has
transferred to the NHS pension scheme.
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme
at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
9. The real Increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer.
It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred
from another scheme or arrangement).
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10. The method used to calculate CETVs changed, to remove the adjustment for Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019. If the individual
was entitled to GMP, this will affect the calculation of the real increase in CETV. This is more likely to affect the
1995 Section and the 2008 Section.
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Staff Report
Number of senior managers
There are 40 employees who are Governing Body members, Directors or Senior
Managers
Pay
Band

No of
Staff

Band 8A

39

Band 8B

32

Band 8C

14

Band 8D

8

Band 9

3

VSM

10

Exit packages and compensation for loss of office (subject to audit)
The CCG made one payment in respect of an exit package during the financial year to value
of £226,362 (2019-20 One payment totalling £217,778).
This consisted of £160,000 (2019-20 £160,000) in respect of a compulsory redundancy payment,
£59,310 (2019-20 £56,588) for payment in lieu of contractual notice and £7,052 (2019-20
£1,190) for payment of accrued but untaken annual leave.
Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the
Agenda for Change pay scheme for NHS staff. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in
the year of departure.

Page 104

Staff numbers and costs (subject to audit)
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Staff composition
Governing Body members with voting rights (covers VSM pay framework grades)
Female

Male

Headcount

%

Headcount

%

7

43.75%

9

56.25%

Senior Managers – Band 8a and above
Female

Male

Headcount

%

Headcount

%

75

78.13%

21

21.87%

All other bands (7 and below)
Female

Male

Headcount

%

Headcount

%

110

83.96%

21

16.04%

Sickness absence data
Total days lost: 1,182.43 days
Average absence per employee: 5.27 days
Long term absence episodes: 33 (taken from ESR)
Long term days total: 693 days

Staff turnover percentages
In 2020/21 staff turnover data was: 258 Employees were in post at the start of the
period, with 228 remaining at the end meaning 88.37% of employees were retained
(labour stability index). Staff turnover rate for 2020/21 was 14.73%.
Staff turnover data for 2019/20 was: 247 employees were in post at the start of the
period, with 195 remaining at the end meaning 78.95% of employees were retained
(labour stability index). The turnover for 19-20 was 23.27%
Figures for both years are inclusive of all retirements and fixed term contracts.
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Staff engagement percentages
See staff survey details at page 110

Staff policies
The following revised staff policies were applied during the year:




























Agency and Interim Use Policy
Agile working Policy
Alcohol Drug and Substance Misuse Policy
Annual Leave Policy
Appraisal and Performance Review Policy
Apprenticeship Policy
Attendance Management and Wellbeing Policy
Bullying and Harassment Policy
Capability Management Policy
Disciplinary Policy
Domestic Abuse Policy
Education Training & Development Policy
Employment Break Policy
Equality and Diversity Policy
Flexible Working Policy
Grievance Policy
Homeworking Policy
Maternity, Maternity Support (Paternity), Adoption/Fostering, Parental Leave Policy
Organisational Change Policy
Overtime, On-Call and Working Time Policy
Probation and induction Policy
Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy
Recruitment and Selection Policy
Secondment Policy
Special Leave Policy
Verification of Professional Registrations Policy
Volunteer Policy

All staff policies are available on the website www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk

Page 107

Equality and Diversity
The Equality Act 2010: The Public Sector Equality Duty
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 states that a public authority must have due
regard to the need to:
•

eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that
is prohibited by or under this Act;

•

advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

•

foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

Throughout the year of this Annual Report, Herts Valleys CCG’s engagement
approach was fully cognisant of this duty and it will continue to promote equality of
opportunity for the population of Herts Valleys in the context of all its com missioning
engagement activities in the future.
We met our statutory responsibilities around data publication and will meet the NHS
requirements in using the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) and the Workforce
Race Equality Standard (WRES) as tools to enable us to review our equality and
diversity work and identify where improvements can be made.
There is an Equality and Diversity page on the CCG website
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/what-we-do/equality-and-diversity-ccg

Equality and diversity in the CCG
Equality and Diversity is central to the work of Herts Valleys CCG, as it is to the
NHS. We want to ensure there is equality of access and treatment for all people to
the services that we commission, both as a matter of fairness and as an essential
part of our drive to reduce health inequalities and increase the health and wellbeing
of all our population.
For more information see hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk

NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
CCGs are required to implement WRES in respect of their own workforce. The
WRES report and action plan has been published on the CCG website here:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/documents/corporate/topic/387/CCG_Reports_and_Publications/534
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Equality and Diversity Action Planning and the NHS Equality Delivery System
(EDS2)
The NHS England Equality Delivery System (EDS and the revision, EDS2) is an
audit tool designed to measure NHS organisations performance against four
equality, diversity and human rights goals.
The goals are:
•

Better health outcomes for all.

•

Improved patient access and experience.

•

Empowered, engaged and included staff.

•

Inclusive leadership at all levels.

Within the four goals there are 18 outcomes against which we assess and grade our
equality performance.
The board has agreed to the publication of the final EDS2 report and grading which
can be viewed at this link:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/what-we-do/equality-and-diversity-ccg

EDS2 assessment and scoring.
•

Each EDS2 outcome is measured against one question: how well do people
from protected groups fare compared to people overall?

•

EDS2 encourages us to look at where our policies, processes and
organisational culture may, intentionally or unintentionally, discriminate
against people. If the EDS2 process shows that there are areas where we
need to improve, we are expected to make the changes needed so that
people with a protected characteristic fare as well as people overall.

•

The specified scoring for EDS2 is as follows:

-

In response to the question “how well do people from protected groups fare
compared with people overall”, the answer is:

•

Undeveloped if there is no evidence one way or another for any protected
group of how people fare or, Undeveloped if evidence shows that the majority
of people in only two or less protected groups fare well

•

Developing if evidence shows that the majority of people in three to five
protected groups fare well

•

Achieving if evidence shows that the majority of people in six to eight
protected groups fare well
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•

Excelling if evidence shows that the majority of people in all nine protected
groups fare well. The four EDS2 assessment areas were graded as follows:

1.

Better health outcomes for all - Developing

2.

Improved patient access and experience – Developing

3.

A representative and supported workforce - Developing

4.

Inclusive leadership - Achieving

The full report identifies where the CCG is performing well and makes
recommendations to improve performance, where needed.
In March 2020 we used the information to publish a new equality and diversity
strategy and action plan 2019-2022 which can be viewed at this link:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/9615/7173/5002/HVCCG_Equality_and_D
iversity__Strategy_and_Action_Plan_2019-2022__with_version_and_review_date.pdf

An Equality and Diversity Steering group, chaired by the Associate Director of
Quality & Performance Improvement meets regularly and will oversee the next EDS2
assessment, which is due by September 2022.

Trade Union Facility Time Reporting Requirements
There are no trade union representatives at the CCG. Accordingly the time reported
is zero.

Other employee matters
2020 NHS staff survey results
You can also see the results in full for Herts Valleys CCG and all NHS
organisations here:
https://www.nhsstaffsurveyresults.com/homepage/benchmarkdirectorate-reports-2020/
Overall, our results are very close to the national average. In some areas
highlighting where we have performed particularly well and others where we need
to make some improvements to be on a par with our peers.
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Staff Redeployment

COVID-19 created an unprecedented need to redeploy staff both internally and
externally and pause business as usual operations in order to facilitate the CCG’s
response across the system.
With changes in the way the CCG worked internally and supported external services
there was a need to deploy staff into areas of the business that required support. All
staff re-deployed retained their original AFC T&C’s inclusive of banded pay.
CCG staff were deployed into both administrative and clinical roles internally within
the CCG and externally to provider organisations including NHS Trusts across the
Integrated Care System (ICS); West Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Hertfordshire
Community Trust as well as PCN vaccination sites.
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Staff Health and Wellbeing
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Staff Involvement Group
Our staff involvement group (SIG), made up of voluntary representatives
across the CCG, supports our responsibility to ensure the wellbeing,
motivation and engagement of our workforce.
The group, co-chaired by the Director of Workforce and Associate Director of
Communications and Engagement, provides a forum for staff to air their views
on key issues affecting staff and wellbeing and makes recommendations to the
executive team. They also act as a sounding board for proposed new initiatives
across the business.
Relevant organisational policies are reviewed and approved by the group
before going to the executive team for final approval, with a SIG member
sitting on the policy forum committee who regularly meet to review all Human
Resource policies.
Expenditure on consultancy

Off payroll engagements
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months (not subject to audit)
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per day
and that last longer than six months.
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2021
Of which…
Number that
Number that
reporting
Number that
reporting
Number that
reporting
Number that

13

have existed for less than one year at time of reporting
have existed for between one and two years at time of

5
4

have existed for between two and three years at time of

1

have existed for between three and four years at time of

0

have existed for four or more years at time of reporting

4

Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months
in duration, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per
day and that last longer than six months (not subject to audit)

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021
Of which…
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as not caught by IR35

7

6
1

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are
on the departmental payroll
Number of engagements re-assessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35

1
0
0

Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements (not subject to
audit)
For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

3

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members, and/or
senior officials with significant responsibility’ during the financial year.
This figure should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

22

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
Herts Valleys CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and
Audit Report. It can confirm that there are no items on remote contingent liabilities,
losses, and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges that require disclosure.
An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 116.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS HERTS
VALLEYS CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group (the
CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity,
the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as interpreted
and adapted by the 2020-21 Government Financial Reporting Manual as contained in the
Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual 2020-21.
In our opinion the financial statements:




give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Herts Valleys CCG as at 31 March 2021
and of its net expenditure for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care’s
Group Accounting Manual 2020-21; and
have been prepared in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006.

Basis for opinion on financial statements
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Accountable Officer’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the CCG’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the
financial statements are authorised for issue. Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the
Accountable Officer with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Basis for opinion on regularity
We carried out our work on regularity in accordance with Practice Note 10 (Revised 2020) issued by
the Public Audit Forum. Our responsibilities in this respect are further described in the Auditor’s
other responsibilities section of our report. We believe the evidence obtained from this work, in
conjunction with the evidence we have obtained in our audit of the financial statements, is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on regularity.
Opinion on information in the Remuneration and Staff Report
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is described in
that report as subject to audit.
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual
2020-21.
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the
use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ended 31 March 2021.
We have not completed our work on the CCG’s arrangements. On the basis of our work to date, having
regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021, we have not
identified any significant weaknesses in arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021.
We will report the outcome of our work on the CCG’s arrangements in our commentary on those
arrangements within the Auditor’s Annual Report. Our audit completion certificate will set out any
matters which we are required to report by exception.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of the CCG’s resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy
ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources, and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves
that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects
of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
are operating effectively.

We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021.
Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following other matters which the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 requires us to report to you if:






in our opinion the Governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by NHS
England; or
we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the
CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency;
or
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014; or
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the CCG has been informed of an intention
to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is
also responsible for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable and for ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
In respect of our audit of the financial statements our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

Our procedures included the following:
 inquiring of management, the CCG’s head of internal audit, the CCG’s Local Counter Fraud
Specialist and those charged with governance, including obtaining and reviewing supporting
documentation in respect of the CCG’s policies and procedures relating to:
o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they
were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of
any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and
o the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or noncompliance with laws and regulations including the CCG’s controls relating to
Managing Public Money requirements;
 discussing among the engagement team and involving relevant internal and or external
specialists, including specialist expertise to support our testing of IT General Controls
regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential
indicators of fraud. As part of this discussion, we identified potential for fraud in the
following areas: revenue recognition, expenditure recognition, posting of unusual journals,
use of management estimates and judgements and classification of non-NHS expenditure as
COVID-19 related; and
 obtaining an understanding of the CCG’s framework of authority as well as other legal and
regulatory frameworks that the CCG operates within, focusing on those laws and regulations
that had a direct effect on the financial statements or that had a fundamental effect on the
operations of the CCG. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included
the National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by Section 27 of the Health and Social Care
Act 2012, whereby the CCG must ensure that its revenue resource allocation in any financial
year does not exceed the amount specified by NHS England.
In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to identified risks included the following:
 reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to
assess compliance with relevant laws and regulations discussed above;
 enquiring of management and the Audit Committee concerning actual and potential litigation
and claims;
 reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and the Governing Body;
 in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements
made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the
business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal
course of business; and
 testing a sample of expenditure classified as COVID-19 related to ensure it was correctly
classified as such and validly claimable under the funding regime for 2020/21.
We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all
engagement team members including internal specialists and remained alert to any indications of
fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There are inherent
limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws
and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less
likely we are to become aware of it.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Auditor’s other responsibilities
In addition to our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial statements conform to
the authorities which govern them.
We are also required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.
As set out in the Matters on which we report by exception section of our report there are certain
other matters which we are required to report by exception.
Certificate - delay in completion of the audit
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for NHS Herts ValleysCCG for
the year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed our work on the
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Herts Valleys CCG, as a
body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in
paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the
National Audit Office in April 2015.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the CCG and the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work,
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Lisa Blake
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Ipswich, UK

16 June 2021
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
OC305127).
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Signed:

Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer
14 June 2021

Signed:

Alan Pond
Chief Finance Officer
14 June 2021

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2021
2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

(616)
(44)
(660)

(663)
(9)
(672)

16,404
973,841
1,540
412
992,197

15,088
902,061
336
642
918,127

Net operating expenditure

991,537

917,455

Total Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2021

991,537

917,455

Note
Revenue from contracts with customers
Other operating income
Total operating income
Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure

The notes on pages 126 to 134 form part of this statement.

2
3
3
3

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2021
31 March 2021
£'000

31 March 2020
£'000

5,820
179
5,999

6,155
70
6,225

(65,915)
(4,314)
(70,229)

(84,314)
(3,204)
(87,518)

Assets less Liabilities

(64,230)

(81,293)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity

(64,230)
(64,230)

(81,293)
(81,293)

Note
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash
Total current assets

5

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

The notes on pages 126 to

6

134 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 121 to 134 were approved by the Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) on
11 June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer

Alan Pond
Chief Finance Officer

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2021
General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Balance at 1 April 2020

(81,293)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the financial year
including balance brought forward from previous year
Net funding

(991,537)

(1,072,830)
1,008,600

Balance at 31 March 2021

(64,230)

General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Balance at 1 April 2019

(73,062)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(917,455)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the financial year
including balance brought forward from previous year

(990,517)

Net funding

909,224

Balance at 31 March 2020

(81,293)

The notes on pages

to

form part of this statement.

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2021
2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

(991,537)
335
(18,398)
(431)
1,540
(1,008,491)

(917,455)
(1,318)
9,488
(586)
336
(909,535)

(1,008,491)

(909,535)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

1,008,600

909,224

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities

1,008,600

909,224

109

(311)

70

381

179

70

Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Decrease / (Increase) in trade and other receivables
(Decrease) / Increase in trade and other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

6

Net Cash Outflow before Financing

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash
Cash at the beginning of the financial year
Cash at the end of the financial year

The notes on pages 126 to 134 form part of this statement.
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NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) shall meet the accounting requirements of the
Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting
policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group
Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies
adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 with Herfordshire County
Council (HCC), East and North Hertfordshire CCG and Cambridge and Peterborough CCG for the provision of a number of services, including:
(1) Services under the Better Care Fund (BCF) (including the Hospital Discharge Programme). Although the BCF consists of a number of
commissioning arrangements, only services jointly-commissioned with HCC, including the protection of social care services, are relevant to the
pooled policy.
(2) Mental Health and Learning Disability Services which are jointly-commissioned.
(3) Equipment Services.
As assessment has been carried out of these arrangements under the appropriate accounting standards and they are deemed to meet the
definition of being under joint control under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. Under this type of arrangement, a joint operation is considered to be
in place and this means that the CCG recognises:
· its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
· its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
· its revenue from the sale of its share of the output of the joint operation;
. its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
· its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

1.4

Employee Benefits

1.4.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in
which the service is received from employees.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.4.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the scheme
is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.

1.5

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the
fair value of the consideration payable.

1.6

Cash
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.

1.7

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised
when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.8

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the
estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
The CCG is of the opinion that there are no critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty that will materially affect
these financial statements.

1.9

Revenue
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund.
Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.

2.0

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standard and Interpretation to be applied in 2020-21:
● IFRS 16 Leases – HM Treasury, in conjunction with the Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB) has decided to defer the implementation
of this standard for a further year to 2022-23. For the NHS, this will be for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022.
Having undertaken a detailed impact assessment of IFRS 16 and applying the transition processes as mandated by HM Treasury, the CCG
concluded that this standard does not have a material impact on the financial statements of the CCG in 2020-21, had the standard been
implemented in that year.
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2. Employee benefits
2.1 Employee benefits

Employee benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2020-21
Total
£'000

2019-20
Total
£'000

12,874
1,316
1,944
44
226
16,404

11,916
1,157
1,759
38
218
15,088

2.2 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable
and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary
of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it
were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st April 2019. For 2020-21, NHS CCGs
continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on behalf of CCGs.
The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would
be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations
shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as
at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with
updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for
financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March
2020, updated to 31 March 2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment,
the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have
also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the
annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into
account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this
valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation
was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. In
January 2019, the Government announced a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty
around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.
The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control element of the
2016 valuations could be completed. The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included
in this process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be included in the
valuation process. The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism
(as was originally announced in 2018). The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original
government objectives and reported to Government in April 2021. The findings of this review will not impact the 2016 valuations,
with the aim for any changes to the cost cap mechanism to be made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.
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3. Operating expenses

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts (Note 1)
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies (Note 2 and 7)
Purchase of social care
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Premises (Note 6)
Audit fees (Note 3 and 4)
Other professional fees (Note 5)
Legal Fees
Education and training
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total purchase of goods and services
Provision expense
Provisions
Total provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Expected credit loss on receivables
Other expenditure
Total other operating Expenditure
Total operating expenses

2020-21
Total
£'000

2019-20
Total
£'000

18
204,155
425,073
144,660
14,017
78,001
98,604
17
3,259
113
4,244
1,225
76
197
32
106
44
973,841

297
119,507
412,836
183,926
12,387
75,744
90,037
26
2,265
306
3,212
929
61
198
180
141
9
902,061

1,540
1,540

336
336

212
(2)
202
412

195
(1)
448
642

975,793

903,039

Note 1
In 2020-21, Mental Health expenditure of £86.7m was paid directly to Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
under the NHS England block contract arrangement. The corresponding amount in 2019-20 was £81.1m but was paid
to the Local Authority and reported under Purchase of Healthcare from non-NHS bodies (see Note 2).
Note 2
In 2020-21, there was additional Covid-19 expenditure of £41.5m relating to the Hospital Discharge Programme
administered by the Local Authority. This has offset the impact of the reduction in expenditure under this heading as
referred to in Note 1 above.
Note 3
The annual audit fee includes VAT and the net amount is £53.5k (2019-20 £45k).
Audit fees for review of the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) includes VAT and the net amount is £10k
(2019-20 £5k).
Note 4
Limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year 2020-21 is £1million or, if
greater, 10 times the total of fees invoiced under the Engagement Letter.
Note 5
Other professional fees includes the sum of £44k for Internal Audit Fees (2019-20 £41k). Internal Audit fees is shown
net of VAT.
Note 6
Premises costs also includes £175k lease costs for building.
Note 7
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies includes a £6m grant provided to Hertfordshire County Council.
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4. Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2020-21
Number

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
Number

2019-20
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

23,303
23,010
98.74%

285,660
276,394
96.76%

19,494
19,081
97.88%

297,239
287,707
96.79%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

1,897
1,858
97.94%

676,736
674,120
99.61%

3,640
3,401
93.43%

551,763
538,219
97.55%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a
valid invoice, whichever is later.

5. Cash
2020-21
£'000
70
109
179

2019-20
£'000
381
(311)
70

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash in hand

178
1

69
1

Balance at 31 March

179

70

Current
31 March 2021
£'000

Current
31 March 2020
£'000

9,868
1,063
3,833
48,212
556
184
213
1,986
65,915

10,207
12,834
6,417
48,542
478
180
154
5,502
84,314

Balance at 1 April
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March

6. Trade and other payables

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals (Note 1)
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

Other payables include £785k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2021 (£704k - 31 March 2020).

Note 1
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, all invoicing by NHS Providers were suspended and replaced by block payments as instructed by
NHS England and NHS Improvement resulting in a reduction in NHS accruals.
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7. Financial instruments
7.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period
in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds
and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing
the CCG in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the CCG
standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body.
7.1.1 Credit risk
Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to credit risk. The
maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the financial assets note
below.
7.1.2 Liquidity risk
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by
Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant
liquidity risks.
7.2 Financial assets

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
31 March 2021
£'000

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
31 March 2020
£'000

3,478
312
585
179
4,554

2,491
248
397
70
3,206

Financial
Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
31 March 2021
£'000

Financial
Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
31 March 2020
£'000

566
24,547
39,849
64,962

491
38,071
44,940
83,502

7.3 Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Total at 31 March

8. Operating segments
The CCG consider they have only one segment in 2020-21 and 2019-20: Commissioning of healthcare services.
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9. Pooled budgets
Under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, funds were pooled with Hertfordshire County Council, East and North Hertfordshire CCG and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG for the joint commissioning of the following
services:
- mental health, learning disabilities, including child and adolescent mental health
- integrated community equipment
- services commissioned through the Better Care Fund for social care services
- additional out of hospital capacity under the Hospital Discharge Programme for 2020-21. This is shown as Covid 19 spend.
The CCG's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget for 2020-21 and 2019-20 were:

2020-21

Contribution
Expenditure
Total Variance:

Equipment Service

Total PooledBudget
2020-21
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2020-21
£000

5,956
6,079
(123)

1,449
1,479
(30)

Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities
(Note 1)
Herts Valleys
Total PooledCCG
Budget
Contribution
2020-21
2020-21
£000
£000
373,552
373,727
(175)

91,375
91,470
(95)

Better Care Fund

Total PooledBudget
2020-21
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2020-21
£000

24,502
24,117
385

12,908
12,528
380

Hospital Discharge Programme
Covid-19
(Note 2)
Herts Valleys
Total PooledCCG
Budget
Contribution
2020-21
2020-21
£000
£000
41,453
41,453
0

41,453
41,453
0

All Pooled
Funds
Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2020-21
£000
147,185
146,930
255

Note 1
The contribution of the CCG also included £86,700k paid directly to Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (see also Note 3 Operating Expenses). This is a departure from previous years whereby the payment
was made to Hertfordshire County Council. This was in compliance with the revised financial regime instigated by NHS England as a result of the pandemic, which simplified cashflows to NHS providers.
Note 2
This included £23,273k on behalf of patients of East and North Hertfordshire CCG as this CCG commissioned Hospital Discharge Programme activity with Hertfordshire County Council on behalf of all Hertfordshire
patients. This CCG’s allocation was increased by NHS England to cover all these costs, again in compliance with the revised financial regime.

2019-20

Contribution
Expenditure
Total Variance:

Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities

Equipment Service

All Pooled
Funds

Better Care Fund

Total PooledBudget
2019-20
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2019-20
£000

Total PooledBudget
2019-20
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2019-20
£000

Total PooledBudget
2019-20
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2019-20
£000

Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2019-20
£000

5,761
5,856
(95)

1,414
1,437
(23)

360,872
360,249
623

85,702
85,345
357

24,061
23,924
137

12,521
12,384
137

99,637
99,166
471
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10. Related party transactions
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and Social Care Ministers, CCG Board members or
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the CCG.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Board. Details of payments made by the CCG to their practices and
related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members were as follows:
Following their appointment to the Hertfordshire & West Essex Joint Executive Team (JET), the following Governing Body members are
also Board members of East & North Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs:
Jane Halpin
Alan Pond
Rachel Joyce
Jane Kinniburgh
Avni Shah
Frances Shattock

Payments to
Related Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts Amounts
owed to due from
Related Related
Party
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - (GP Federation) - Dr C Ciobanu

2,057

0

46

0

Direct Local Health Ltd - (GP Federation) Dr R Eliad & Dr A Faizy
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr C Page
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Haverfield Surgery - Dr C Ciobanu
Herts Health Ltd - (GP Federation) - Dr N Small
Maltings Surgery - Dr D Carlton-Conway
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Stahfed - (GP Federation) Dr D Carlton-Conway and Dr R Pile
Vine House Health Centre - Dr A Faizy

1,952
1,788
1,367
439
1,028
2,163
2,487
1,759
1,343
1,243

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
32
0
0
0
73
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG has had a number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The CCG adopted a disclosure level of £5m and
the most significant material related parties are listed below. In addition, the CCG had a number of material transactions with local
government bodies. Where appropriate, these entities have also been reflected in the list below.
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
Bedfordshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Hertfordshire County Council

The CCG received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
2019-20 comparators are shown on the following page.
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10a. Related Party Transactions 2019-20
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and Social Care Ministers, CCG Board members or members of
the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the CCG.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Board. Details of payments made by the CCG to their practices and related
parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members were as follows:
Payments
Receipts
to Related from Related
Party
Party
Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - (GP Federation) -Dr T Fernandes & Dr C Ciobanu
Direct Local Health Ltd - (GP Federation) Dr R Eliad & Dr A Faizy
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr C Page
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Haverfield Surgery - Dr C Ciobanu
Herts Health Ltd - (GP Federation) - Dr N Small
Hospice of St Francis - Dr T Fernandes
Maltings Surgery - Dr D Carlton-Conway
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Stahfed - (GP Federation) Dr D Carlton-Conway and Dr R Pile
Vine House Health Centre - Dr A Faizy

£000
1,233
1,516
1,690
1,310
411
866
343
2,155
2,430
1,983
1,605
907
1,368

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
147
175
1
3
1
76
62
6
5
5
7
0
4

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The CCG adopted a disclosure level of £5m and the most significant
material related parties are listed below. In addition, the CCG had a number of material transactions with local government bodies. Where
appropriate, these entities have also been reflected in the list below.
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Hertfordshire County Council
The CCG received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
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11. Events after the end of the reporting period
The CCG considers there are no material events after the end of the reporting period that are required to be disclosed in this note.

12. Financial performance targets
The CCG has a number of financial duties under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended 2012).
The CCG performance against those duties was as follows:
2020-21
Target
£000

2020-21
Performance
£000

2019-20
Target
£000

2019-20
Performance
£000

992,276
0
991,616

992,197
0
991,537

918,188
0
917,516

918,127
0
917,455

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

0

0

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

0

0

12,608

12,310

13,841

12,332

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

